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Foreword by the Chair

The current inquiry arose from a speech given by the Hon Franca Arena MLC in the Legislative
Council on 17 September 1997 during debate on the Final Report of the Royal Commission into
the NSW Police Service. The speech suggested that certain prominent persons, including the
Premier of NSW and the Royal Commissioner, had been involved in meetings or agreements
concerning an alleged “cover-up” of names of high-profile paedophiles. The Legislative Council
resolved to authorise the Governor to establish a Special Commission of Inquiry to investigate
Mrs Arena’s claims and the basis on which she had made them. The Special Commission
concluded that Mrs Arena had no evidence to support those claims.

On 12 November 1997, as an amendment to a motion for the expulsion of Mrs Arena, the
Legislative Council resolved that the Standing Committee on Parliamentary Privilege and Ethics
investigate and report on what sanctions should be enforced in relation to Mrs Arena’s conduct
in this matter. The investigation of this matter raised issues of considerable complexity and
sensitivity which required detailed and careful consideration by the Committee. The Committee’s
task was further complicated by the fact that in some cases the evidence received could not be
publicly released, given the potential impact on police investigations or damage to reputations of
persons named. 

During the inquiry the Committee was mindful of the importance and seriousness of the issues at
stake, including the nature of parliamentary freedom of speech, the need to protect the dignity and
standing of the House, the importance of protecting individual reputations from unnecessary
damage, the possible consequences for the Member concerned and, ultimately, for all Members
of the House.  In light of these various concerns the Committee took care to ensure that measures
were adopted which afforded Mrs Arena procedural fairness during the inquiry. Further, given
the importance and complexity of the matters involved, the Committee engaged legal advisers to
ensure that procedural fairness was observed.  Because of the sensitive nature of many of the
issues under consideration, the Committee conducted all hearings in camera and only authorised
those sections of the evidence to be made public which it felt would not cause unnecessary
damage to the reputations of individuals, compromise ongoing investigations or prejudice any
matters currently before the courts.

I hope that the release of the Committee’s Report will clarify the relevant issues for both Members
and the community and contribute to an informed debate on this matter. The Report discusses the
factual background to the inquiry (Chapter 1); the conduct of the inquiry (Chapter 2); the
significant features of Mrs Arena’s speech  (Chapter 3); parliamentary freedom of speech and the
range of sanctions available to the House in this case (Chapter 4); the Committee’s conclusions
concerning Mrs Arena’s conduct (Chapter 5); and the Committee’s conclusions and
recommendations concerning sanctions (Chapter 6).



(ii)

I would like to thank all Members of the Committee for their contributions to what has been a
particularly demanding inquiry involving many issues of a highly contentious and complex nature.
I would also like to place on record my sincere appreciation and that of the Committee for the
work undertaken by the Clerk to the Committee and Deputy Clerk of the Legislative Council, Ms
Lynn Lovelock, the Senior Project Officer, Ms Velia Mignacca, and the Committee Officer, Mr
Daniel Noll, who had a very demanding role especially meeting tight deadlines and editing
transcripts of evidence. I also thank the acting Senior Project Officer, Ms Vicki Mullen, the
Legislative Council Project Officer, Ms Roza Lozusic, and the Hansard staff for their assistance
in this inquiry. Finally, on behalf of the Committee I wish to thank the legal advisers to the
Committee, Mr Bernard Gross QC and Mr Joe Catanzariti. 
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CHAIR
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Background to the Committee

The Committee was first established as the Standing Committee Upon Parliamentary Privilege by
resolution of the Legislative Council on 9 November 1988.  It was re-established under the 50th
Parliament on 16 October 1991.  On 24 May 1995 at the commencement of the 51st Parliament
the Committee was reconstituted as the Standing Committee on Parliamentary Privilege and
Ethics.

The Committee has two main roles:

(1) to consider and report on any matters relating to parliamentary privilege which may be
referred to it by the House or the President; and

(2) to carry out certain functions relating to ethical standards for Members of the Legislative
Council under Part 7A of the Independent Commission Against Corruption Act 1988
(NSW).
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Terms of Reference 

The terms of reference for this inquiry are contained in the following resolution of the Legislative
Council, passed on Wednesday 12 November 1997:

1. That the following matters be referred to the Standing Committee on Parliamentary
Privilege and Ethics for inquiry and report:

(a) the statements made by Mrs Arena in the Legislative Council on 17 September
1997 concerning the alleged suppression of names of individuals allegedly being
investigated by the Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service; and

(b) the Report and Confidential Supplement of the Special Commission of Inquiry
conducted by the Honourable John Nader QC concerning the claims by Mrs
Arena.

2. That the Committee investigate and report on what sanctions should be enforced in
relation to Mrs Arena’s conduct in this matter.

3. That the resolution of the House of 21 October 1997, ordering the Commissioner of
Police to report to this House as soon as practicable his assessment of the documents tabled by
Mrs Arena on 21 October 1997, be varied to provide that:

(a) in conjunction with the assessment of the tabled documents, the Commissioner of
Police is to examine any documents which are relevant to the documents tabled
by Mrs Arena contained within former Special Branch files in his custody;

(b) the Commissioner is to lodge the report of his assessment of all these documents
with the Clerk of the House as soon as is practicable; and

(c) the Clerk is to refer the Commissioner’s report to the Standing Committee on
Parliamentary Privilege and Ethics for consideration as part of its inquiry into the
conduct of Mrs Arena.

4. That, following the referral of the Commissioner’s report to the Committee, and according
to the resolution of the House of 21 October 1997, the Clerk of the House is authorised to permit
members of the Standing Committee on Parliamentary Privilege and Ethics to inspect the
documents tabled by Mrs Arena on 21 October 1997.

5. That leave be given to Members of the Legislative Council to appear and give evidence
to the Committee in relation to the inquiry.

(Minutes No. 15, Wednesday 12 November 1997, Entry No. 16)
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Findings and Recommendations

FINDINGS

1. Mrs Arena in her speech on 17 September 1997 made allegations which involved the
following imputations:

(a) on or shortly after Thursday 21 March 1996 the Premier, Mr Carr, and the Leader
of the Opposition, Mr Collins, met together;

(b) late on Sunday 24 March 1996 Mr Carr, "the General Secretary of the ALP", Mr
Della Bosca, and "ALP President", Mr Sheahan, and "other important figures in
the ALP" met together;

(c) each of the participants of the above alleged meetings (ie between Mr Carr and Mr
Collins; and between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca, Sheahan and "other important
figures in the ALP") shared the purpose that in his conduct of the Paedophile
segment of the Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service,
Justice Wood would ensure that prominent persons in high political, judicial and
social positions in the community would be protected from being identified and
named as a result of the Royal Commission's investigations and hearings;

(d) shortly after these alleged meetings, Mr Carr and Justice Wood met and agreed
that Justice Wood would influence the conduct of investigations and hearings of
the Royal Commission so as to ensure that "people in high places" (ie prominent
persons in high political, judicial and social positions in the community, and thus
"untouchables") who were accused by alleged victims of being paedophiles, would
not be named;

(e) this suppression of their identities constituted a "massive cover-up" on Justice
Wood's part, as was intended by all of the participants of each of the three alleged
meetings;

(f) the purpose of the meetings and the intention of the participants of those meetings,
other than Justice Wood, was to prevent electoral damage arising from disclosure
of the identity of prominent persons in the community who were allegedly engaged
in paedophile activities.

(g) the purpose of each of the persons participating in the three alleged meetings was
that Justice Wood, contrary to the duties of his public office as Royal
Commissioner, would corruptly favour and protect alleged paedophiles from
investigation, detection and identification, merely because they occupied high
political, judicial or social positions in the community.
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2. These imputations involved, in substance, the allegation of an illegal conspiracy,
notwithstanding that Mrs Arena did not expressly describe such alleged conduct as either
“illegal” or as involving a “conspiracy”.

3. The Committee finds that Mrs Arena's allegations as to the above conduct:

(a) were untrue;

(b) were made without any reasonable foundation upon facts known to her or
reasonably capable of being checked by her;

(c) were extremely hurtful and damaging to the reputations of each of the persons
referred to as participants in the three alleged meetings.

4. The Committee finds that the conduct of Mrs Arena, in making the relevant allegations
in her speech on 17 September 1997, was conduct which fell below the standard the
House is entitled to expect of a Member, and brought the House into disrepute.

Recommendation No. 1

1. That Mrs Arena be called on to withdraw the allegations made in her speech on 17
September 1997 which involved imputations against:

(a) the Premier, Mr Carr.

(b) the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Collins.

(c) the Royal Commissioner, Mr Justice Wood.

(d) the General Secretary of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Della Bosca.

(e) the President of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Sheahan,

of a criminal conspiracy to ensure that people in high places would not be named in the
paedophile segment of the Report of the Royal Commission into the Police Service, and
make a written apology to the House.

2. That in the event of the failure of Mrs Arena to withdraw the imputations and make
a written apology to the House within a specified time, Mrs Arena be suspended from the
service of the House until the submission of a formal apology.
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Recommendation No 2.

That the House consider a Resolution in the following terms:

1. That this House, having regard to the findings of the Standing Committee on
Parliamentary Privileges and Ethics in relation to its inquiry into the conduct of the
Honourable Franca Arena, MLC:

(a) considers that the conduct of Mrs Arena in making certain allegations in her
speech on 17 September 1997, fell below the standards which the House is
entitled to expect from its Members and brought the House into disrepute.

(b) calls on Mrs Arena to make a written apology to the House within 5 sitting
days after the passing of this Resolution, and withdraw in writing the
imputations against:

(i) the Premier, Mr Carr.

(ii) the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Collins.

(iii) the Royal Commissioner, Mr Justice Wood.

(iv) the General Secretary of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Della Bosca.

(v) the President of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Sheahan,

of a criminal conspiracy to ensure that people in high places would not be named in the
paedophile segment of the Report of the Royal Commission into the Police Service.

2. That, in the event of Mrs Arena not submitting an apology and withdrawing the
imputations by the time required in paragraph 1 (b), Mrs Arena is suspended from the
service of the House until the submission of a formal apology and withdrawal of the
imputations referred to in paragraph 1(b) (i) to (v).

3. That the apology be in the following terms: 

I hereby withdraw the allegations made in my speech to the House on
17 September 1997, which involved imputations against Mr Carr, Mr
Collins, Mr Justice Wood, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan, of a
criminal conspiracy to ensure that people in high places would not be
named in the paedophile segment of the Report of the Royal
Commission into the Police Service.
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I also hereby apologise to the House and to those people for making
those imputations.

4. That the apology and withdrawal be read by Mrs Arena in the House and be also
published in the Minutes of Proceedings.



   Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service, Final Report, Vol. I: Corruption, May 1997,3

p. 1. A consolidated version of the Terms of Reference to Commissioner Wood is included at Appendix 1 to
this Report.

   ibid, pp. 1-2.4

   ibid, p. 2.5

Chapter One

1. BACKGROUND TO THE INQUIRY

To place the current inquiry in context it is necessary to examine certain events
surrounding Mrs Arena’s speech in Parliament on 17 September 1997. A brief
chronology of relevant events is set out in this section.

1.1 Establishment of Wood Royal Commission

1.1.1 By Letters Patent issued on 13 May 1994, the Hon Justice James Wood was required
to inquire into the operations of the New South Wales Police Force, with particular
reference to certain matters itemised at paragraphs (a) to (e) of the Terms of
Reference.  These particular matters concerned, in summary:3

C the nature and extent of corruption in the Police Service; 
C the system of promotion in the Police Service; and 
C the impartiality of the Police Service and other agencies in investigating and

pursuing prosecutions including paedophile activity (paragraph (d)). 

1.1.2 In December 1994 further Letters Patent were issued adding subparagraphs (d1), (d2)
and (d3) to the Terms of Reference.  The matters incorporated by the additional4

subparagraphs concerned in summary:

C police protection of paedophile activity; and
C the possible adverse effect of Police Service procedures on police investigations

and prosecutions. 

1.1.3 On 23 October 1996 the Royal Commission’s Terms of Reference were further
extended to include paragraphs (g), (h), (i), and (j).  The new terms focussed on:5

C the adequacy of existing laws prohibiting paedophilia and the penalties imposed
by such laws; 

C the effectiveness of processes for the protection of children in the care of
Government agencies from sexual abuse; and 
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   Parliamentary Debates, Legislative Assembly, 23 October 1996, p. 5247.6

   ibid.7

   ibid., p. 5249.8

   ibid., p. 5250.9

   Votes and Proceedings, Legislative Assembly, No. 37, 23 October 1996, p. 508.10

C the effectiveness of Police Service investigatory procedures in dealing with
allegations of paedophilia. 

1.1.4 On 23 October 1996 the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Collins, moved a motion in the
Legislative Assembly proposing that the Terms of Reference be further extended to
require the Royal Commission to conduct a full investigation into allegations of
paedophilia at large, without being limited to issues involving protection, corruption,
or system failure.   In support of the motion, Mr Collins argued that the additional6

terms announced by the Premier related largely to procedural matters and added little
to the Royal Commission’s powers to deal with the problem of paedophilia.   Various7

arguments were advanced in the House against this motion, including the proposition
that the appropriate body for investigating and prosecuting child sexual abuse is the
Police Service,  or the dedicated unit established for that purpose (the Child Protection8

Enforcement Agency), rather than the Royal Commission.  At the conclusion of debate9

on the matter, a Government amendment supporting the additional terms of reference
announced by the Premier was passed by a majority, with the result that Mr Collins’
motion failed.10

1.1.5 On 31 October 1996 a cross-bench Member of the Legislative Council, Revd Mr Nile,
moved the following motion in the Council:

That this House calls on the Government to add the following paragraphs to the
terms of reference of the Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police
Service:

1. That the Royal Commission be tasked with conducting criminal
investigations, at large, into allegations of paedophilia or pederasty, that are
unconnected with protection issues, arising either as a result of corruption,
or as a result of system failure, or abuse of office by a public official.

2. That the Royal Commission fully investigate and report on paedophilia in
New South Wales with particular reference to:

(a) any relationship between individual paedophiles and/or
paedophile networks; and



STANDING COMMITTEE ON PARLIAMENTARY PRIVILEGE AND ETHICS
INQUIRY INTO THE CONDUCT OF THE HONOURABLE FRANCA ARENA

3

   Parliamentary Debates, Legislative Council, 31 October 1996, p. 5619.11

   ibid., 10 April 1997, p. 7349. 12

   Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Force, Final Report, Vol. IV: The Paedophile Inquiry,13

August 1997, p. 570.

   ibid., 31 October 1996, p. 5623.14

   Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service, Final Report, Volumes IV: The Paedophile15

Inquiry, August 1997, p. 807.

   Minutes of the Proceedings of the Legislative Council, No. 2, Wednesday 17 September 1997, p. 34.16

(b) the relationship between paedophile networks in New
South Wales with other individuals and organisations in
Australia and overseas.11

After some debate the motion was passed on 10 April 1997, with the support of the
Opposition, the cross-benches, and Mrs Arena, who although still a Government
Member crossed the floor for the vote.   However, despite this resolution by the12

Legislative Council, the Terms of Reference to Justice Wood for the paedophile
segment of the Royal Commission were not further widened.13

1.2 Justice Yeldham mentioned in Parliament 
 
1.2.1 On 31 October 1996, during debate in the Legislative Council on the motion to extend

the Royal Commission’s Terms of Reference, Mrs Arena referred to two persons,
including a former Supreme Court judge, Justice Yeldham, in connection with the
paedophile segment of the Royal Commission inquiry.   Neither figure had been14

publicly identified by the Royal Commission at that stage. On 4 November 1996, after
giving further evidence to the Royal Commission, Justice Yeldham took his own life.15

1.3 Mrs Arena’s speech 17 September 1997

1.3.1 On 17 September 1997 the Final Report of the Royal Commission concerning the
paedophile segment of the inquiry was tabled in the Legislative Council (Final Report,
Volumes IV-VI: The Paedophile Inquiry).  Later that day the Attorney General16

moved a motion in the Legislative Council that the House “take note” of the Report.
During the ensuing debate Mrs Arena made a speech which suggested, among other
things, that certain identified persons including the Premier, the Leader of the
Opposition, and the Royal Commissioner, had been involved in meetings and/or
agreements relating to the “cover-up” of names of high-profile paedophiles.  The
speech, which is the subject of this inquiry, is reproduced in full at Appendix 2.

1.3.2 On 18 September 1997 the Attorney General gave notice of a motion in the following
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   Notices of Motions and Orders of the Day, Legislative Council, No. 3, Tuesday 23 September 1997, p. 30.17

   These provisions, contained in Part 4, expired on 24 March 1998.18

   Minutes of the Proceedings of the Legislative Council, No. 6, Thursday 25 September 1997, pp. 94-5.19

   Arena v Nader & Ors, Supreme Court of NSW, unreported decision, 3 October 1997.20
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terms:

That this House censures the Honourable Franca Arena for making allegations
in this House on 17 September 1997 which asserted a criminal conspiracy
involving the Premier, the Leader of the Opposition in the Legislative Assembly,
the Royal Commission and other persons, and condemns those allegations as
baseless, irresponsible and an abuse of parliamentary privilege.17

The motion has not yet been moved and remains on the Notice Paper.

1.4 Establishment of Nader inquiry

1.4.1 In response to concerns over the possible impact of Mrs Arena’s speech, on 24
September 1997 the Parliament passed the Special Commissions of Inquiry
Amendment Act 1997 (NSW), which amended the Special Commissions of Inquiry Act
1983 (NSW). The effect of the amending Act was to enable either House, by
resolution, to authorise the Governor to establish a Special Commission of Inquiry
(similar to a royal commission) to investigate such matter relating to parliamentary
proceedings as is specified in the resolution (s. 33B(1)).  The Act also permitted the
House to declare by resolution that parliamentary privilege is waived in connection
with the inquiry (s. 33D(1)). Although it permitted a collective waiver of privilege by
the House, the Act preserved the right of any individual Member to claim
parliamentary privilege in relation to an inquiry (s. 33D(3)). The provisions inserted
by the amending Act were specified to expire six months after their commencement
date (s. 33H).18

1.4.2 On 25 September 1997, in the terms permitted by the Act, the Legislative Council
authorised the establishment of a Special Commission of Inquiry to investigate Mrs
Arena’s claims and the basis on which she had made them.   The resolution waived19

parliamentary privilege in connection with the inquiry. A Special Commissioner was
duly appointed to conduct the inquiry, the Hon John Nader RFD QC.  One of the first
acts of the Special Commission was to issue a summons to Mrs Arena requiring her
to give evidence and produce documents in support of her claims.

1.4.3 Mrs Arena promptly filed proceedings in the Supreme Court of New South Wales20

and then in the Court of Appeal  challenging the validity of the Special Commissions21
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of Inquiry Amendment Act.  The grounds of invalidity asserted included breach of
certain constitutional provisions and infringement of parliamentary freedom of speech
prescribed by Article 9 of the Bill of Rights 1689. While Mrs Arena was successful in
obtaining certain interlocutory orders which delayed the progress of the Special
Commission, overall these challenges failed, as did a subsequent application for leave
to appeal to the High Court of Australia against the Court of Appeal’s decision.  22

1.4.4 When the Special Commission of Inquiry resumed on 16 October 1997, Mrs Arena
exercised her right not to participate.  However, all other witnesses gave evidence as
required, including all of the alleged parties to the alleged “cover-up”.

1.5 Documents tabled by Mrs Arena in the Legislative Council 

1.5.1 On 21 October 1997 Mrs Arena moved a motion in the Legislative Council seeking
leave of the House to table certain material relating to her claims on 17 September
1997 and certain material concerning allegations that prominent persons had engaged
in paedophile activity.  Mrs Arena described the material as:23

four folders of documents, the contents of which have led me to believe in good
faith that the Wood royal commission omitted to investigate some high-profile
paedophiles, people who have been called "untouchables".24

1.5.2 Specifically, Mrs Arena identified the four volumes as follows:

Volumes 1 and 2 General information provided to Mrs Arena detailing
allegations of paedophilia and child sexual assaults, including
statutory declarations and other documentation.

Volume 3 Information and documents provided by W26 [codename of
a witness before the Wood Royal Commission] and other
related information concerning allegations of paedophilia.

Volume 4 Part A - material relating to allegations against lawyer X;

Part B - material concerning allegations of a paedophile house
network; and
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Part C - documents relating to claims made by Mrs Arena on 17
September 1997.  25

1.5.3 Mrs Arena stated that the material in the four volumes had been selected from seven
boxes of documents which she had gathered on this issue.  26

1.5.4 As proposed in Mrs Arena’s motion, the Legislative Council resolved that Mrs Arena
be granted leave for the material to be tabled but that the documents be retained in the
custody of the Clerk of the House and not be published or copied without an order of
the House.   Further, the House granted leave to the Clerk to provide a copy of the27

documents to the Special Commission of Inquiry investigating Mrs Arena’s claims,
and to the Commissioner of Police. Finally, the resolution required the Commissioner
of Police to make an assessment of the documents and report that assessment to the
House.

1.6 Nader inquiry report

1.6.1 The Report of the Special Commission of Inquiry was released on 7 November 1997.
A Confidential Supplement to the Report was also issued which contained an
assessment of the documents tabled by Mrs Arena on 21 October 1997 so far as was
relevant to the inquiry of the Special Commission.  Both the Report and the
Confidential Supplement were tabled in the Legislative Council by the Clerk on 11
November 1997 and ordered to be printed by resolution of the House.28

1.6.2 The Report of the Special Commission examined the evidence obtained by the
Commission concerning whether the meetings and agreements referred to in Mrs
Arena’s speech had occurred.  It concluded that Mrs Arena’s statements concerning
these matters were “false in all respects”.  It further stated that -29

Mrs Arena has no evidence, sufficient or otherwise, to support these claims, or
any part of them, which she made under parliamentary privilege; nor was there
anything, not amounting to evidence in the strict sense, that could have 
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provided any reasonable person acting in good faith any justification for these claims, or
any part of them. The evidence strongly suggests Mrs Arena knew she had no such
evidence.30

1.6.3 The Confidential Supplement to the Report analysed the documents tabled by Mrs
Arena and concluded that none of those documents supported the statements made by
Mrs Arena on 17 September.

1.6.4 The day the Report of the Special Commission of Inquiry was released, Mrs Arena,
then a Government backbencher, stated that she had tendered her resignation from the
Australian Labor Party (ALP).

1.7 Motion to expel Mrs Arena

1.7.1 On 11 November 1997 the Attorney General moved a motion in the Legislative
Council proposing that, in view of the findings of the Special Commission, Mrs Arena
be adjudged “guilty of conduct unworthy of a Member of the Legislative Council” and
be expelled from the House.   However, the motion was amended by the Opposition31

with the support of the cross-benches in a form that, instead of expelling Mrs Arena,
required this Committee to “investigate and report on what sanctions should be
enforced in relation to Mrs Arena’s conduct in this matter”.  The motion as amended32

was passed by the House on 12 November 1997. 

1.7.2 In addition to referring the matter to this Committee, the resolution of the Legislative
Council also:

C varied the resolution of the House of 21 October 1997 to require the
Commissioner of Police to examine, in conjunction with the documents tabled
by Mrs Arena, any relevant documents contained within former Special Branch
files;

C required the Commissioner of Police to lodge the report of his assessment of
the documents with the Clerk of the House, and required the Clerk to refer that
report to this Committee for consideration as part of its inquiry;

C permitted Members of this Committee to inspect the documents tabled by Mrs
Arena, once the report of the Commissioner of Police had been referred.

1.7.3 The complete terms of the resolution, which forms the terms of reference for this
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inquiry, are set out at p. (iv) of this Report.

1.7.4 On 20 November 1997 a cross-bench Member, Mrs Nile, moved a motion in the
Legislative Council proposing that Revd Mr Nile be appointed as a member of this
Committee.   Revd Mr Nile moved an amendment to the motion proposing that:33

C Mr Primrose (a Government Member) be appointed to the Committee; and

C for the purposes of the inquiry into the conduct of Mrs Arena, the quorum is
four Members, of whom three must be Government members and one must be
a non-Government Member.34

The motion, as amended, was passed by the House on 25 November 1997.35

1.8 Report of Commissioner of Police

1.8.1 The Commissioner of Police lodged his report on the documents tabled by Mrs Arena
and the other material referred by the House on 27 November 1997.   This36

Committee authorised publication of the Report under s. 4(2) of the Parliamentary
Papers (Supplementary Provisions) Act 1975 (NSW) on 5 December 1997. The
Report concluded that some of the material examined is worthy of further
investigation and that a strike force would be established to investigate such matters.37

However, it also stated that the Commissioner had discovered nothing in the
documents which is contrary to the findings of the Special Commission of Inquiry.38



Chapter Two

2. CONDUCT OF THE INQUIRY

This Chapter contains a summary of the Committee’s proceedings in this inquiry. The
Minutes of the proceedings are reproduced at Appendix 6.

2.1 Legal assistance

Assistance for the Committee

2.1.1 Because the question of expulsion is a serious one and has wide ramifications beyond
the particular case being considered in this inquiry, the Committee wanted to ensure
that its actions conformed at all times with the requirements of due process and
applicable laws.  Accordingly, early in the inquiry the Committee engaged the services
of Mr Bernard Gross QC, instructed by Mr Joseph Catanzariti of Clayton Utz,
Solicitors, to provide legal assistance to the Committee in this matter. Mr Gross and
Mr Catanzariti advised the Committee on a range of matters connected with the
conduct of the inquiry, including the lawfulness of steps proposed to be taken by the
Committee; the application of relevant principles of procedural fairness/natural justice;
and the procedures which should be followed to ensure that the Committee’s
proceedings did not prejudice current investigations by courts and other bodies.

Assistance for Mrs Arena

2.1.2 In December 1997 Mrs Arena wrote to the Committee requesting financial assistance
for legal representation in connection with her appearances before the Committee.  In
her submission to the Committee on this issue Mrs Arena argued that as the
Committee had engaged lawyers, it was fair that she should have access to legal advice
as well. The Committee sought approval for such assistance and approval for funding
was granted by Treasury.

2.1.3 The Committee received procedural advice from the Clerk of the Parliaments as to the
nature of the legal representation to which witnesses before Council committees such
as Mrs Arena are entitled. The Clerk advised that according to parliamentary law and
practice, a witness before a committee cannot be represented by counsel without the
leave of the House. However, he advised that in the absence of leave from the House,
witnesses may be assisted by legal representatives in the sense that they may consult
their legal advisers during hearings and seek their lawyers’ assistance in answering
questions from the Committee. As leave of the House had not been obtained in this
case and the House had risen for the summer recess, the Committee permitted Mrs
Arena to be assisted by her advisers in the sense described by the Clerk.  In addition,
her lawyers were permitted to:
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C submit written questions to be put to other witnesses by members of the
Committee on Mrs Arena’s behalf; 

C make submissions in relation to the Committee’s proposed editing of Mrs
Arena’s evidence prior to the public release of that evidence;  and 39

C make submissions in relation to Mrs Arena’s conduct before the Committee
commenced its final deliberations.

Assistance for other parties

2.1.4 The Committee also received requests for legal representation on behalf of the
Premier, Mr Carr; the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Collins; and Justice Wood. It was
submitted that such representation should be granted on the ground of procedural
fairness as these parties were the subject of the principal claims made by Mrs Arena
in her speech on 17 September 1997 and any evidence which the Committee
considered in relation to those claims could have direct relevance to the parties’
reputations. The Committee sought approval for legal assistance on behalf of the
parties and funding was approved by Treasury.

2.1.5 The Committee permitted the legal advisers for the interested parties to be present
during the in camera hearings of the Committee but not during any deliberative
meetings.  As was the case with the lawyers for Mrs Arena, the representatives of the
interested parties were permitted to: 

C submit written questions to be asked of witnesses by members of the
Committee during hearings (although the Committee members themselves
ultimately determined which questions were to be asked);

C view Mrs Arena’s evidence and make written submissions in relation to its
publication; and 

C make written submissions in relation to Mrs Arena’s conduct, when invited to
do so by the Committee. 

2.2 Witnesses and hearings

Witnesses called by the Committee

2.2.1 The following witnesses appeared and gave evidence before the Committee:
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17 December 1997 Police Commissioner concerning clarification of certain matters
Peter Ryan contained in the Commissioner’s Report

to the Legislative Council on Papers
tabled by Mrs Franca Arena MLC before
the Council on Tuesday 21 October 1997,
dated 27 November 1997

21 December 1997 Mr Alex Mitchell, concerning information reported in the
Associate Editor, The Sun-Herald article referred to in Mrs
Sun-Herald newspaper Arena’s speech on 17 September 1997 

5 March 1998 Mrs Arena

16 March 1998 Mrs Arena

24 March 1998 Mrs Arena

6 April 1998 Mrs Arena

15 May 1998 Commander concerning clarification of certain matters
Clive Small relating to meetings with Mrs Arena

23 June 1998 Mr Philip Taylor legal adviser to Mrs Arena

2.2.2 All hearings were conducted in camera in accordance with the Committee’s resolution
of 24 November 1997:

That all evidence in relation to the Committee’s inquiry into the conduct of the
Honourable Franca Arena, MLC be taken in camera, and that the Committee only
authorise those sections of the evidence to be made public which it is satisfied
will not cause unnecessary damage to the reputations of any individuals,
compromise ongoing police investigations or prejudice any matters currently
before the courts.

2.2.3 The Committee’s reasons for requiring hearings to be held in camera are adverted to
in the terms of this resolution.  That is, the Committee felt that there was too great a
risk that evidence given at public hearings could have caused unnecessary damage to
the reputations of individuals, compromised ongoing police investigations, or
prejudiced matters currently before the courts.  The Committee also considered that
no system of voluntary censorship or codenames adopted for the purpose of public
hearings could have operated successfully, given the immediacy of oral communication
and the complexity and breadth of the issues under discussion at the hearings.
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2.2.4 While requiring the hearings to be in private, the Committee considered that it was in
the public interest for the transcripts of the evidence to be publicly released as soon
as possible after each hearing.  Accordingly, each transcript was published as soon as
the Committee had had an opportunity to edit the material in conformity with the
principles adopted in its resolution.  During the editing process the Committee sought
to ensure that as much as possible of the material should be published and that only
where strictly necessary should material be suppressed or codenames used.  In each
case, Mrs Arena and the legal representatives for the interested parties were invited
to make written submissions concerning the editing proposed by the Committee.  All
submissions received were considered on their merits.

2.2.5 Before calling Mrs Arena to appear and give evidence, the Committee requested her
to provide a full written statement of the evidence she proposed to put to the
Committee in relation to the subject of the inquiry. In response to this request Mrs
Arena supplied a lengthy written submission (57 pages) including 31 attachments  and40

later provided a supplementary submission (5 pages) with 11 further attachments.41

The same editing process was applied to this material as was applied to the transcripts
and an edited version was published in April 1998.

2.2.6 During the inquiry Mrs Arena has made various claims in the media and in Committee
hearings that the Committee was biased in its editing of the evidence, that it
suppressed material if it was favourable to Mrs Arena or prejudicial to the Committee.
In reality, the Committee took a conscientious and nonpartisan approach to the
editing, and the vast majority of decisions as to the proposed editing of the evidence
were approved by all Members of the Committee, with only a small number of
divisions.

2.2.7 At various stages during the inquiry Mrs Arena nominated persons whom she
considered should be called before the Committee to give evidence. The Committee
considered each such suggestion and made an assessment of the relevance of the
potential witness to the subject of the inquiry.



Chapter Three

MRS ARENA’S SPEECH

3.1 Terms of Reference of the Committee's Inquiry

3.1.1 The Terms of Reference for the conduct of inquiry by the Committee refer to two
matters to the Committee for inquiry and report:

(a) the statements made by Mrs Arena in the Legislative Council on 17
September 1997 concerning the alleged suppression of names of individuals
allegedly being investigated by the Royal Commission into the NSW Police
Service; and

(b) the Report and Confidential Supplement of the Special Commission of
Inquiry conducted by the Honourable John Nader QC concerning the claims
by Mrs Arena.

3.1.2 The Committee is also required by the Terms of Reference to "investigate and report
on what sanctions should be enforced in relation to Mrs Arena's conduct in this
matter."

3.1.3 Although it is necessary for the Committee to consider the entire speech made by Mrs
Arena to the Legislative Council on 17 September 1997, it is necessary for the
Committee to concentrate upon several passages which fall within the description in
the Terms of Reference, namely:

The statements made by Mrs Arena in the Legislative Council on 17 September
1997 concerning the alleged suppression of names of individuals allegedly being
investigated by the Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service.

3.2 Relevant passages in Mrs Arena's speech

3.2.1 Having referred to the Sun Herald article by Mr Alex Mitchell published on 17 March
1996 under the headline 'Prominent People to be Named - Paedophile Bombshell',
Mrs Arena stated:

Did that not give us a lot of hope that things would change?  But what happened?
The next day Bob Carr's office denied that such a meeting was ever going to take
place, but it is fair to assume that a meeting did indeed take place when the furore
had died down.  There was also another meeting which took place here at
Parliament House late the following Sunday between Bob Carr; the General
Secretary of the Australian Labor Party, John Della Bosca; party president, Terry
Sheahan; and other important figures in the ALP.  Are these people going to deny
the meeting took place?
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I had confirmation by security officers and other unable to talk about it publicly who
could testify to it but are in fear of losing their jobs.  I believe it was all to organise
damage control.  Following the meeting with Peter Collins and the late meeting at
Parliament House, the Premier met with Justice Wood.  What happened at the meeting
between Justice Wood and Carr, I do not know.  No information was leaked, but I am
bold enough to presume that an agreement was reached to ensure that people in high
places would not be named as it would have been too traumatic for the community to
realise how many of its so-called upstanding citizens were involved in criminal activities.

The result was that the whole paedophilia inquiry went into another stage.
Despite the continuation of public hearings, we never heard of a single high-
profile paedophile being named or exposed.  I believe that this is due to the fact
that it was decided that it was too damaging for the community to have members
of Parliament and judges exposed.  And so the whole matter was swept under the
carpet.  The royal commission has failed the community by failing to ask for the
prosecution of some of the high-profile paedophiles in our community on whom
it had evidence and witnesses.  If Justice Wood had said in his report, 'We
diligently set up all sorts of covert and overt operations to catch paedophiles
about whom we had received reliable information, but despite all our efforts we
were unable to get any evidence that they were paedophiles and for this reason
nobody has been named in the report', we could have accepted that, but the reality
is that the commission did not even try.

I have no doubt that there has been a massive cover-up and the community is
angry and distressed.  The system is protecting itself.  The commission unmasked
corrupt policemen and paraded such corruption on a video to the community.  We
applauded its work.  This is the reason the commission was established: to
uncover the guilt in our midst.  But for the untouchables in our society there is a
different standard; no covert or overt surveillance for them, no hidden videos or
secret microphones for them.  I know that I will be strongly criticised for making
these statements, but I believe it is my duty to put them on the parliamentary
record.  In the short term I will surely be criticised and even marginalised by my
own party, but I know I will be eventually proved right.

It is imperative for me to discharge my responsibilities as an elected member of
Parliament.  I have my responsibilities to the community.  There has always been
a reluctance on the part of the powers that be to extend the royal commission's
terms of reference in a way that was needed.  We never understood why.  Do not
forget that this royal commission cost the community $70 million, it employed
more than 230 staff and during its operations it accumulated incredibly important
evidence.  It was a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to look in depth at the question
of paedophilia.  However, this opportunity has been lost and we have seen a
massive cover-up as far as important people in our community are concerned.42

3.2.2 Mrs Arena then proceeded to "place on the parliamentary record the sequence of
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events that took place",  commencing with a motion moved by her at the Australian43

Labor Party Caucus on 22 October 1996 seeking passage of a motion to amend the
Terms of Reference of the Royal Commission, extend its duration and increase its
investigative staff, which motion was passed.  She then noted that on 22 October
1996, the Premier issued a Press Release announcing an extension to the Terms of
Reference of the Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service.  She further stated
that on 23 October 1996 a further Caucus meeting took place at which Mrs Arena's
motion to add two additional paragraphs to the Amended Terms of Reference
announced in the Premier's Press Release was defeated.  Having discussed these
events, Mrs Arena then stated:

I will never know why the Premier did not want an extensive inquiry into all
aspects of paedophilia.  He claimed that Justice Wood was not prepared to hold
such an extensive inquiry and, in effect, Justice Wood used the terms of reference
issued by the Premier on 22 October as a shield every time the commission failed
to uncover prominent paedophiles or shielded them. ...  The royal commission
proceeded with terms of reference acceptable to both the Premier and Justice
Wood.

These terms of reference, I emphasise again, were not as extensive as the
community wanted, and many members of Parliament on our side were angry
because we felt that the royal commission was a unique opportunity to look at the
issue of paedophilia and a unique opportunity to deal with it in depth.  Why were
the terms of reference not as extensive as we wanted them?  Why was the issue
of paedophilia not dealt with in depth by the Wood royal commission?  When will
the next royal commission on paedophilia be held in this State?  Why was the lid
kept on this important issue?  We have never been given an answer.  But let me
say that many of us have a fair idea why.44

3.2.3 Mrs Arena then referred to a subsequent motion in the Legislative Assembly on 23
October 1996, and stated:

However, all this was of no consequence as by the time the motion was passed in
the Upper House the Wood royal commission had practically closed its doors and
thus ignored the will of the Parliament.  It is important for me to put all of this on
the parliamentary record, because I feel that we have lost a golden opportunity.
Who is responsible for the loss of this unique opportunity?  I leave that for the
community to judge.  No matter how many positive things may happen in the near
future regarding paedophilia, there are people who will have to answer to future
generations as to why important people such as judges and members of
Parliament were given protection.45
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3.3 The task required of the Committee by its Terms of Reference

3.3.1 The Terms of Reference by the Legislative Council to the Committee require it to
inquire, investigate and report concerning the matter specified in the Terms of
Reference, namely, Mrs Arena's conduct in this matter, being the statements made by
her in the Legislative Council on 17 September 1997 concerning the alleged
suppression of names of individuals allegedly being investigated by the Royal
Commission into the NSW Police Service.  Under the Terms of Reference to the
Committee, the only specified person whose conduct the Legislative Council
authorises inquiry, investigation and report by the Committee is Mrs Arena.

3.3.2 The Committee's obligation to adhere to the precise limits of the Terms of Reference
of the Committee requires that the Committee acknowledge that it is not its appointed
task to inquire into the manner in which the Royal Commission into the NSW Police
Service conducted its investigations or otherwise performed the obligations imposed
upon it by its own Terms of Reference.

3.3.3 Although the Committee's investigation necessarily involves consideration of what
reasonable foundation, if any, Mrs Arena had as at 17 September 1997 for making
allegations concerning the "suppression of names of individuals allegedly being
investigated by the Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service",  the Terms of46

Reference do not authorise or require the Committee to embark upon a wider inquiry
as to whether any individual, by reason of any complaints or allegations made or
capable of being made against them, deserved, in retrospect, or in the light of what the
Committee itself can discover and establish, to be investigated more extensively by the
Royal Commission into the NSW Police Service, or to survive the period of operation
of the Royal Commission without being prosecuted.  Mrs Arena frequently during her
evidence before the Committee stated that she is not a policeman.  However, neither47

is the Committee.

3.3.4 The Committee's role is necessarily a purely protective one confined to determination
of whether the privileges of the Legislative Council have been improperly breached by
Mrs Arena in her capacity as a Member of the Legislative Council.  In short, the
Committee is authorised to conduct its inquiry and make report for the sole purpose
of informing the Legislative Council of its conclusions concerning the appropriate
responses by the Legislative Council to the conduct of a particular member of the
Legislative Council, namely Mrs Arena. 
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3.3.5 Despite Mrs Arena's submissions to the contrary, the Committee rejects her attempts
to induce the Committee to go beyond its powers, and embark on a wider inquiry into
the adequacy of the Terms of Reference of the Royal Commission into the NSW
Police Service,  the manner in which the Royal Commission performed its48

investigative task and reporting function,  or whether specified individuals were49

undeservedly fortunate in surviving scrutiny by the Royal Commission with their
reputations intact and without being criminally prosecuted.50

3.3.6 The Committee finds it unnecessary to determine whether Mrs Arena's frequent
invitations to the Committee that it should, in effect, step outside the limits imposed
by its Terms of Reference and undertake a more wide ranging inquiry, reflect not
merely a genuine failure by her to understand the nature and limits of the Committee's
task but instead a deliberate attempt to divert the attention of the Committee from her
own conduct and to use the Inquiry to advance her own goal of achieving a further
Royal Commission into paedophilia with wider powers to inquire into alleged
paedophile behaviour. 

3.3.7 The Committee considers that the Terms of Reference require it to establish whether
the claims made by Mrs Arena in her speech were justified in the sense that she had
reasonable foundations for the claims she made, at the time when she made them.
However the Committee is not entitled under the Terms of Reference to investigate
whether claims for which Mrs Arena had no reasonable foundations at the time of her
speech can be demonstrated by additional investigation of the persons concerned to
be accurate.

3.3.8 Further, the Committee has proceeded on the basis that the Terms of Reference do not
enable the Committee to embark at large on a wider task of establishing and reporting
upon whether persons not named in her speech on 17 September 1997 deserve to be
more vigorously pursued by the Police in respect of allegations made against them that
they are paedophiles.

3.3.9 Quite apart from the fact that such a wider inquiry would be beyond that authorised
by the Terms of Reference, the Committee considers that the task of investigating
allegations that specified individuals have breached the criminal law regarding
paedophilic conduct can only properly and responsibly be performed by professional
law enforcement bodies and most certainly not by the Committee.  Indeed, on this very
question, Mr Peter Ryan, Commissioner of Police, during his evidence before the
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Committee, stated that it would be "inappropriate and damaging"  for the Committee51

to hear evidence on allegations of paedophilia, and that any such evidence should not
be placed before the Committee, but rather should be provided to the Strike Force set
up by him to enable "proper criminal investigations into the allegations"  and so that52

any evidence would not be compromised "as to its future value and use".53

3.3.10 Commissioner Ryan emphasised the need for investigators to establish sufficient
evidence, based on hard fact (and not speculation, innuendo and rumour) and
preferably corroborated, which would stand up in Court.   He disapproved of the54

laying of a charge based upon insufficient evidence, and of the damage which any
person charged, regardless of his position, would inevitably suffer in such
circumstances.   The Child Protection Enforcement Agency, which was formed in55

1996,  now has, as Commissioner Ryan explained, the responsibility throughout the56

State to investigate complaints of abuse towards children, whether that abuse be
sexual, mental or physical abuse.57

3.4 The Nader Inquiry and Report

3.4.1 The Report and Confidential Supplement of the Special Commission of Inquiry
conducted by the Honourable John Nader QC concerning the claims by Mrs Arena
were, along with the statements made by Mrs Arena to the Legislative Council on 17
September 1997, the "matters" referred to this Committee for inquiry and report.

3.4.2 On 7 November 1997 Mr Nader reported his conclusions in the following terms:

VI.  CONCLUSIONS

Having inquired into the matters specified in the terms of reference of this
Inquiry, and having regard to the relevant evidence, for the above stated reasons,
I report as follows:

(1) (i) The claim made by Mrs Arena in the Legislative Council on 17
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September 1997 to the effect that a meeting took place between the
Premier, Mr Bob Carr, and the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Peter
Collins, to plan the suppression of names of individuals allegedly
being investigated by the Royal Commission into the NSW Police
Service was false in all respects.

(ii) The claim made by Mrs Arena on the said occasion to the effect that
the Premier and Justice Wood met and that "an agreement was
reached to ensure that people in high places would not be named"
was false in all respects.

(iii) The claim made by Mrs Arena on the said occasion to the effect that
a meeting took place between Premier Bob Carr, John Della Bosca
and Terry Sheahan at Parliament House to plan the suppression of
the names of individuals allegedly being investigated by the Royal
Commission into the NSW Police Service was false in all respects.

(2) Mrs Arena had no evidence, sufficient or otherwise, to support these claims,
or any part of them, which she made under parliamentary privilege; nor was
there anything, not amounting to evidence in the strict sense, that could
have provided to any reasonable person acting in good faith any
justification whatsoever for these claims, or any part of them.  The evidence
strongly suggests Mrs Arena knew she had no such evidence.58

3.4.3 Mrs Arena in her submission dated 30 January 1998 alleges that the Terms of
Reference for the Nader Inquiry were misleading in that they set out claims which she
did not make in her speech.  In particular, she states "My speech does not claim that
Collins met to plan the suppression of names, nor does my speech claim that Mr Carr,
Della Bosca and Sheahan met to plan the suppression of names".   Mrs Arena also in59

the same submission contends that both the Terms of Reference for the Nader Inquiry
and the findings made by the Nader Inquiry Report itself "draw mistaken and
unintended inferences from my speech",  and that for that reason "the findings of the60

Nader Inquiry are unhelpful, and irrelevant to the matter before this Committee".61

However it should be noted that by contending that her speech "does not claim that
Collins met to plan the suppression of names",  the omission of Mr Carr from this62

disclaimer of intention appears to reflect a continued willingness to maintain that Mr
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Carr, in his meeting with Mr Collins, met with him "to plan the suppression of names"
even if Mr Collins did not share that plan.  The subsequent proposition "Nor does my
speech claim that Mr Carr, Della Bosca and Sheahan met to plan the suppression of
names"  appears to be directed only to the alleged meeting between them, and63

involves no withdrawal of such an imputation of Mr Carr's purpose in meeting with
Mr Collins.  However the Committee recognises that in this section of Mrs Arena's
submission dated 30 January 1998 she maintained that:

(a) her speech on 17 September 1997 contained no allegation by her that the
purpose of the first two meetings (Carr/Collins, and Carr/Della Bosca/Sheahan)
was "to plan the suppression of names allegedly being investigated by the Royal
Commission into the NSW Police Service";

(b) the Terms of Reference for the Nader Inquiry were therefore misleading, as
they drew mistaken and unintended inferences from her speech;

(c) the Committee should, therefore, ignore both the Terms of Reference of the
Nader Inquiry and its report and draw its own conclusions concerning her
speech, in the light of the explanations provided by her to the Committee. 

3.4.4 Mrs Arena's contentions as to the inaccuracy of the Terms of Reference of the Nader
Inquiry appear to be confined to what those Terms of Reference assert was the effect
of the claims made by Mrs Arena as to:

(a) an alleged meeting between the Premier, Mr Bob Carr, and the Leader of the
Opposition, Mr Peter Collins; and

 (b) a subsequent alleged meeting between Premier Bob Carr, John Della Bosca and
Terry Sheahan.

3.4.5 However it is significant that Mrs Arena does not appear to question the description
in the Terms of Reference of the Nader Inquiry of the claim being made by her in
respect of an alleged meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood, and in particular the
description that "an agreement was reached to ensure that people in high places would
not be named".  64

3.4.6 Mrs Arena further points out that in order to preserve her parliamentary privilege
(which she maintains is a matter of importance not only for herself but "for all
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parliamentary democracies in the common law world")  she refrained from65

participating in the Nader Inquiry by either giving evidence before the Nader Inquiry,
calling witnesses to give evidence in the Nader Inquiry, cross-examining any witnesses
at the Nader Inquiry, or making any submissions to it.   Mrs Arena therefore contends66

that the report of the Nader Inquiry suffers from the defect that the Nader Inquiry did
not have before it her own position and explanations, and that it is only this Committee
which has had the benefit of her evidence, explanations and submissions.67

3.4.7 Mrs Arena's decision not to participate in the Nader Inquiry deprived her of an
available opportunity to put her position at an early stage.  However it was her right
as a Member of Parliament to decline to participate in the Nader Inquiry.  The
Committee accepts that as Mrs Arena declined the opportunity to participate in the
Nader Inquiry on stated grounds of principle relating to Parliamentary privilege,  the68

Committee should not draw any adverse inference against her from her failure to
participate in the Nader Inquiry.

3.4.8 The Committee has received from Mrs Arena lengthy evidence  and detailed69

submissions  concerning her speech on 17 September 1997.  The Nader Inquiry did70

not have the benefit of this evidence and these submissions by Mrs Arena.  Therefore,
as the Nader Inquiry lacked the advantage which the Committee has of having
received evidence and submissions from Mrs Arena, the Committee has independently
reached its own conclusions in reporting to the Legislative Council, without any
regard to the conclusions of the Nader Inquiry.

3.5 Media reports concerning Mrs Arena's speech

3.5.1 Mrs Arena's speech on 17 September 1997 was reported upon very prominently in the
various media, and a considerable public discussion of her speech, as reported by the
media, then ensued.

3.5.2 Mrs Arena challenges the accuracy of the terms in which the media, particularly the
printed media, reported her speech, asserting that "For one reason or another the
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media initially sought to promote an extreme interpretation."71

3.5.3 The Committee considers that it would not be appropriate either to review the terms
in which Mrs Arena's speech was reported in the media or to assess the extent to
which any attempted summaries of her speech in the media accurately reported or
fairly summarised the contents or thrust of the critical parts of her speech.  The Terms
of Reference of the Committee require that it concentrate upon what Mrs Arena
actually said, as distinct from how the media heard, understood or reported upon the
wording, intent or effect of her speech.

3.5.4 Mrs Arena's speech provoked vigorous controversy, and although the Committee
believes it is unnecessary to take account of either the initial media reporting or the
ensuing public discussion of her speech, the Committee concludes that undoubtedly
Mrs Arena anticipated and intended that the allegations made in her speech would
achieve widespread publicity within the community, and that she substantially achieved
this aim.

3.6 Mrs Arena's intention to express herself in the particular language used by her

3.6.1 Mrs Arena in her submission to the Committee, her oral evidence and final submission
to the Committee raised the possibility that because her command of the English
language was "less than perfect",  English not being her "mother tongue",  this factor72 73

may have caused her to incorrectly express herself in her speech in language which
inadequately and clumsily conveyed some meanings different from those which she
intended.

3.6.2 The Committee does not believe that Mrs Arena's non-English speaking background
provides any basis for exculpating her from the consequences of the natural meaning
of the wording of her speech.  She gave evidence before the Committee that she spent
considerable time planning her speech, that she wrote it out completely beforehand,
and that she gave it exactly as she intended.   During her speech, there were no74

objections, interjections or other interruptions which may have served to disturb her
concentration or to cause her to respond spontaneously or hastily.  She plainly gave
much consideration to the wording of the speech, and in the Committee's view, the
critical parts of her speech cannot be excused or discounted by any belief that the
language she used to convey her beliefs and allegations was hastily but erroneously
composed in the heat of the occasion, but subsequently, upon mature reconsideration,
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regretted.  Indeed Mrs Arena has at no stage expressed any regret or apology for any
part of her speech, or for the manner in which the speech was subsequently reported
or understood.  She has not withdrawn any claim made in her speech or apologised for
any part of it.  Mrs Arena during her evidence before the Committee has strenuously
defended and firmly stood by the statements made by her in her speech.

3.6.3 Further, although in her written submission to the Committee Mrs Arena conceded she
may, having reflected further upon her speech, have chosen different words,  she did75

nothing to add content to this possibility in that when offered the chance by the
Committee to withdraw any particular words, or indicate how certain words would be
changed if she were to give her speech again, she did not take up on the opportunity.76

Moreover, when the Committee asked explicitly whether she was recanting what in
the Committee's view is the most serious allegation made by her in the speech, she
declined to do so.   The relevant allegation in her speech which she declined to recant77

on this occasion was that which she made against the Premier, Mr Carr, and the Royal
Commissioner, Justice Wood, as follows:

I am bold enough to presume that an agreement was reached to ensure that people
in high places would not be named as it would have been too traumatic for the
community to realise how many of its so-called upstanding citizens were involved
in criminal activity .78

Her unwillingness, in her written submission and evidence before the Committee, to
recant from the propositions in this passage of her speech necessarily casts doubt on
the significance which can now be given to any subsequent concessions she makes in
her submission dated 6 May 1998 concerning any possible inappropriateness of the
particular language used by her in the speech.

3.6.4 Following conclusion of her evidence, Mrs Arena's final submission to the Committee
referred to "two matters that I would make clear in my speech if I were to redo it."79

One such matter is that she now accepts that despite her assumption that Mr Carr and
Mr Collins met to discuss the paedophile segment of the Royal Commission, "Carr did
not ultimately meet with Collins."   The other matter conceded in her final submission80

is that where she said concerning Justice Wood and Mr Carr that "An agreement was
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reached to ensure that people in high places would not be named"  (as quoted herein81

in the preceding paragraph) she would amend the words "to ensure" to read "which
had the effect of ensuring".82

3.6.5 The Committee notes Mrs Arena's contention that "Parliamentary practice requires the
Committee to construe my speech in the light of the explanation I have given".83

However this more recently expressed expression of willingness in the light of
subsequent events, to concede the desirability of amending this passage of her speech
does not alter the proper construction of her speech on 17 September 1997, or the
manner in which her speech would have been reasonably understood at the time it was
made.  This belated concession concerning Justice Wood and Mr Carr may merely
represent a convenient expedient to mitigate any possible damage to her position
caused by her refusal during her oral evidence before the Committee to recant the
most serious allegation, as quoted above, when specifically asked whether she wished
to do so.

3.6.6 Moreover, the weight to be given to this recently proffered concession appears to
depend upon whether the Committee accepts the central part of Mrs Arena's
justification of her speech before the Committee, as explained in her written
submission to the Committee  that the protection of high-profile paedophiles was not84

the intention behind an alleged agreement reached at a meeting between Justice Wood
and Mr Carr, but rather the outcome of acceptance by Justice Wood in October 1996
of restricted Terms of Reference proposed by Mr Carr for the paedophile segment of
the Royal Commission.

3.7 Mrs Arena's conduct before the Committee

3.7.1 The Committee is obliged to record that the performance of its investigative task was
not assisted by the manner in which Mrs Arena, during the hearing before the
Committee, dealt with the Committee's questions and procedural rulings:
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(a) Mrs Arena's demeanour at many stages at the hearing was emotional and
confrontational, often taunting and abusing Committee members  whose85

questioning was not to her liking.

(b) She frequently evaded questions,  refused to answer questions,  or ignored86 87

questions,  with the Committee being obliged on a number of occasions88

(indeed, on fewer occasions than her continued evasiveness warranted) to
record that her answers were non-responsive.89

(c) Despite specific requests from the Committee Chair that she answer questions,90

Mrs Arena often persisted with time-wasting reading on to the recorded
transcript of lengthy passages from her written submission to the Committee,
regardless of the question which was being asked of her,  or else making91

irrelevant objections, quite unrelated to the question she was being asked, to
prior decisions of the Committee as to the editing of transcripts for
publication.   Mrs Arena engaged in this course of action at a stage when her92

written submission dated 30 January 1998 had not been released for publication
after necessary editing, but the transcript of her evidence, as edited, had been
published.   However, Mrs Arena continued to do so, even after the93

Committee assured her that the submission, as edited, would be released for
publication.  94
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(d) She frequently refused to acknowledge the authority of the Chair, and to accept
or comply with procedural rulings made by the Chair, even where she was made
aware of the fact that the particular procedural ruling was one with which the
entire Committee agreed.95

3.7.2 The difficulties which the Committee was faced with in dealing with Mrs Arena's
evidence, as detailed above, reflected the position taken by Mrs Arena throughout the
inquiry in which she accused various members of the Committee of bias,  and96

vigorously objected to the Committee's requests for compliance with its rulings  on97

the basis that she was not being given procedural fairness in decisions which the
Committee was making, particularly as to the editing of the evidence for the purposes
of publication.   Mrs Arena's overly vigorous and extremely suspicious responses to98

procedural decisions made by the Committee reflected in many instances, an
unwillingness to acknowledge the correctness of the decisions made by the Committee
in the performance of observing its own Resolution dated 24 November 1997:

That all evidence in relation to the Committee's inquiry into the conduct
of the Honourable Franca Arena, MLC, be taken in camera, and that the
Committee only authorise those sections of the evidence to be made
public which it is satisfied will not cause unnecessary damage to the
reputations of any individuals, compromise ongoing police investigations
or prejudice any matters currently before the courts.99

3.7.3 Mrs Arena, in respect of a large number of persons upon whose information she
purported to rely in her written submissions and evidence, refused to identify the
persons concerned, on the basis of the need to protect the confidentiality of her alleged
sources.  The large number of persons whose identity she refused to name on100

purported confidentiality grounds,  and in a number of cases, the difficulty of101

formulating any plausible basis for either Mrs Arena or the alleged informant claiming
protection from disclosure, gave rise at times to the suspicion on the part of some
Committee members that her persistent refusal to name many persons whose
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information she contended that she had relied upon, may have been an obstructive
tactic to prevent the Committee from examining whether some of the more significant
allegations made by her were based upon bare conjecture, rather than credible
information supplied by others.

3.7.4 However Mrs Arena, in her submission dated 6 May 1998, contends that her conduct
before the Committee, as distinct from her speech on 17 September 1997, falls outside
the Terms of Reference of the Committee, and accordingly is not a matter warranting
any adverse inference against her or justifying any recommendation in this Report by
the Committee.102

3.7.5 There are grounds for considering that Mrs Arena's obstructiveness, disobedience and
hostile behaviour during her appearance before it constituted a potential contempt of
the Committee.  However the Committee recognises that under the Committee's
Terms of Reference, it is Mrs Arena's speech in the Legislative Council and not her
behaviour before the Committee which is the conduct presently in question.
Accordingly any provisional views the Committee may have formed concerning the
inappropriateness of her behaviour during the Committee's hearings cannot be
permitted, and has not been permitted, to influence in any way the Committee's
conclusions and recommendations concerning her conduct in making the speech on 17
September 1997.

3.8 Mrs Arena's allegations in her speech as to meetings and an agreement

3.8.1 The manner in which Mrs Arena's speech can be seen to be structured as to topics
provides assistance in the task of determining whether her subsequent explanations and
interpretations are either plausible or warrant acceptance.

3.8.2 Mrs Arena's speech commenced with general observations concerning the problem of
paedophilia, and some disturbing revelations in the Royal Commission of paedophile
behaviour in the community.

3.8.3 Mrs Arena then made brief, passing reference to an article in that day's Sydney
Morning Herald by Ben Hills, before returning to the subject of the Royal
Commission, twice stating that she wanted to put on the public record matters (which
she described as "important matters")  concerning the Royal Commission.  She stated103

that it was "important" that those who read the parliamentary record in the future
could "know how the whole issue was perceived by me and by others".104
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3.8.4 The fact that Mrs Arena's introduction heralded the recording of her perceptions as to
the "whole issue" of the manner in which the Royal Commission dealt with the
paedophile reference casts doubt on her asserted position before the Committee that
when making allegations concerning an agreement at a meeting between Mr Carr and
Justice Wood, she was only referring to a particular event in October 1996, late in the
history of the Royal Commission investigations into paedophilia, being the
"agreement" between Mr Carr and Justice Wood constituted by Justice Wood agreeing
to the amended Terms of Reference for the Royal Commission's paedophile
segment.105

3.8.5 Mrs Arena then stated "Readers of this record will make up their own minds if I have
been wrong or if other people have been wrong"  before stating "there are important106

matters that I want to put on the record",  and then proceeding to refer to, and read107

aloud, the article by Alex Mitchell published in the Sun Herald on 17 March 1996.
The choice which Mrs Arena here acknowledged was one between Mrs Arena being
"wrong" in the allegation she was about to make in her speech, and others, who were
about to be identified in her speech, being "wrong" in their conduct which influenced
the manner in which the paedophile segment of the Royal Commission was conducted.

3.8.6 The Committee observes that if, as Mrs Arena now asserts before the Committee, the
only agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood which she alleged in her speech
was an agreement as to the wording of the amended Terms of Reference to the Royal
Commission in its paedophilia reference, it makes little sense to preface the making of
her allegations of wrongful conduct by others by posing the choice for subsequent
readers of the parliamentary record as being whether she had been "wrong" or others
had been "wrong".  The acceptance by Justice Wood of the amended Terms of
Reference proposed by Mr Carr in October 1996 was a matter of undisputable fact and
public knowledge, and scarcely a contentious matter upon which she could
conceivably be "wrong", or upon which subsequent readers of the public record could
be in any doubt.  The Committee considers that these introductory words, which
immediately precede her lengthy quotation of the Alex Mitchell article, contradict Mrs
Arena's more "innocent" explanations of the meaning and purpose of the allegations
in her speech concerning agreement being reached at a meeting between Mr Carr and
Justice Wood, and indicate strongly an impending allegation in her speech of a very
contentious and extremely serious matter, namely significant wrongdoing by Mr Carr,
Justice Wood and others in deliberately scuttling the paedophile reference of the Royal
Commission, for corrupt reasons.

3.8.7 Next, Mrs Arena quoted in full onto the parliamentary record the Alex Mitchell article,
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published in the Sun Herald on 17 March 1996.  The Committee observes that if Mrs
Arena was merely leading up to a non-contentious allegation that Mr Carr and Justice
Wood agreed upon amended Terms of Reference in October 1996, there was little
point in devoting considerable time and energy to reading aloud an entire article
published the day before the commencement of the paedophile segment of the Royal
Commission, some seven months before, particularly where that article had nothing
to say on the subject of either the Terms of Reference of the Royal Commission or of
the amending of the Terms of Reference, which did not occur until seven months later.

3.8.8 The Sun Herald article by Alex Mitchell on 17 March 1996 reported that the Royal
Commission's paedophile inquiry was "starting tomorrow".   It both described and108

predicted an urgent flurry of activity by "an increasingly panicky Parliament"  in109

organising rapid "damage control"  in the face of a perceived emergency caused by110

what Mr Mitchell reported were imminent revelations of a shocking nature at the
Royal Commission hearings which were to commence the next day.

3.8.9 The Committee considers that the full quotation by Mrs Arena of the Sun Herald
article reporting rapid and urgent responses by the New South Wales Parliament only
makes sense if it was being highlighted by Mrs Arena to justify the serious allegations
to which she then moved in the next paragraph of her speech.  The use of the Sun
Herald article as a preface to her speech was plainly intended to convey that the
relevant response by the named politicians and party officials to the particular crisis
was to secure quickly an agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood, in
consequence of three inter-related meetings, involving them and at earlier stages,
others, concerning which she makes specific allegations in her speech.

3.8.10 The Alex Mitchell article dated 17 March 1996 was predicting, and Mrs Arena in her
speech was plainly describing, "damage control" activities which were being activated
immediately, rather than embarked upon at a leisurely pace over the following seven
months leading up to the amended Terms of Reference being announced in October
1996.  However the significant difference was that Alex Mitchell was describing
perfectly legitimate steps being taken to limit the political damage which could follow
upon shocking revelations being made in the Royal Commission concerning any
member of Parliament, whereas Mrs Arena was alleging a different response, namely
resort to covert meetings involving Mr Carr, Mr Collins, Mr Della Bosca, Mr
Sheahan, other Labor Party figures and ultimately Justice Wood, involving a corrupt
agreement whereby Justice Wood in conducting the Royal Commission, would protect
high level paedophiles from detection, interception, revelation and punishment of their
activities.
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3.8.11 The meetings alleged by Mrs Arena to have occurred were (a) between Mr Carr and
Mr Collins, (b) between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan, and (c) between
Mr Carr and Justice Wood.  Although Mrs Arena later conceded in her speech that the
date of the appointed meeting between Mr Carr and Mr Collins may have been shifted,
the obvious thrust of her allegations concerning Mr Carr and Mr Collins was that a
meeting in fact took place at either at the originally appointed time or shortly
thereafter, to plan political damage control in the face of impending revelations in the
Royal Commission.  The reference by Mrs Arena to "assume"  goes only to the111

possibility of the changing of the date of the meeting, but nonetheless a meeting which
did in fact occur.  This is demonstrated by Mrs Arena's reference in the same
paragraph to "another meeting which took place"  (at Parliament House between Mr112

Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan), which clearly takes as its reference point a
first meeting, that is, between Mr Carr and Mr Collins.  Moreover, in the next
paragraph of her speech, Mrs Arena states "Following the meeting with Peter Collins
and the late meeting at Parliament House, the Premier met with Justice Wood."113

This passage leaves in no doubt that Mrs Arena was alleging in her speech the meeting
between Mr Carr and Mr Collins took place, this being one of three meetings between
the described persons, all with the same purpose, namely, the achievement of the
agreement which she then alleges was reached between Mr Carr and Justice Wood "to
ensure that people in high places would not be named".  114

3.9 Mrs Arena's allegations concerning a meeting between Mr Carr and Mr Collins
to discuss the Royal Commission

3.9.1 The Sun Herald article by Alex Mitchell on 17 March 1996, as quoted by Mrs Arena
in her speech, asserts that Mr Carr, who was "believed to have received confidential
information last week about the explosive new stage of commissioner James Wood's
inquiry, had 'invited Opposition Leader Peter Collins to a private meeting in his office
on Thursday at 4pm to discuss the Royal Commission'".   The article then quotes Mr115

Collins as being "certainly interested to hear what he (ie Mr Carr) has to say".116

  3.9.2 Mrs Arena in her speech then stated that:

But what happened?  The next day Bob Carr's office denied that such a meeting
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was ever going to take place, but it is fair to assume that a meeting did indeed
take place when the furore had died down.117

3.9.3 Having then made allegations about a meeting being held at Parliament House on the
following Sunday night between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca, Mr Sheahan, and "other
important figures in the ALP", Mrs Arena stated:

Following the meeting with Peter Collins and the late meeting at Parliament
House, the Premier met with Justice Wood.118

3.9.4 Mr Mitchell in his evidence before the Committee, says that he told Mrs Arena on two
occasions before she made her speech on 17 September 1997 that a meeting between
the Premier and Mr Collins had not taken place.119

3.9.5 Mrs Arena however, in her submission dated 30 January 1998 contends that in the first
telephone conversation with Mr Mitchell, he said he did not know if the meeting
between Mr Collins and Mr Carr took place and would have to "get back to my
informer".   She says that she told him during the first telephone conversation that120

it was "very important to me" that she know if the meeting between Mr Collins and
Mr Carr took place, stating "I am doing a speech in Parliament and it is very important
that I get the facts right".   She further contends that in a second telephone121

conversation four or five days later he told her that he had not been able to "get back
to" his informer, and that when she advised him that it was very important for her to
know, he told her he would see what he could do and that if he got the information he
would ring her.122

3.9.6 In support of her stated belief that Mr Carr and Mr Collins had the meeting, and that
such belief was both genuine and reasonable, Mrs Arena has pointed  to evidence,123

which she did not have at the time of her speech but which has since emerged, that:

(a) a meeting was organised as a result of a letter of invitation by Mr Carr and a
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letter of acceptance by Mr Collins;124

(b) a draft letter of agenda was prepared which referred to the paedophilia
reference;  and125

(c) a meeting did take place although Mr Carr did not attend and paedophilia was
not discussed.126

3.9.7 There is considerable conflict, which it is unnecessary to resolve, between Mrs Arena's
account of her conversations with Mr Mitchell and those which Mr Mitchell maintains
in his evidence before this Committee.  Nevertheless, it is common ground between
Mr Mitchell and Mrs Arena, that Mr Mitchell did not confirm to her that a meeting
had taken place in March 1996 between Mr Carr and Mr Collins, notwithstanding that
she twice said to him that she needed to have further information on the subject as she
was about to make a speech in Parliament, and that there were no further
conversations between them which gave her any basis for believing that according to
information received by Mr Mitchell, the meeting between Mr Carr and Mr Collins had
actually occurred.  Moreover Mrs Arena does not appear to have made any other
inquiries as to whether such a meeting had taken place, and did not raise the matter
with either Mr Carr or Mr Collins for clarification before making the speech.

3.9.8 Mrs Arena in her submission dated 6 May 1998 admits that although she assumed that
Mr Collins met with Mr Carr effectively to discuss the paedophile segment, she now
accepts the evidence that Mr Carr did not ultimately meet with Mr Collins.   She127

points out that she did not know at the time of her speech that they had not met,
basing her "fair assumption" as to such a meeting upon the fact that there was a
proposed meeting between Mr Carr and Mr Collins which had been agreed, in
correspondence, to be held.128

3.9.9 The Committee found it unnecessary to determine whether or not Mrs Arena was
telling the Committee the truth as to her recollections of the telephone conversations
with Mr Mitchell.  Even if the Committee concluded that her evidence concerning
these telephone conversations was untruthful, the Committee recognises that its tasks
under the Terms of Reference require that it concentrate upon the particular conduct
constituted by her speech on 17 September 1997, and not to treat her evidence before
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the Committee as further conduct in respect of which in this Report the Committee is
required to report its conclusions.

3.9.10 The Committee agrees with Mrs Arena's contention that the proper discharge of her
Parliamentary responsibilities did not require that she check with either Mr Carr or Mr
Collins prior to making allegations in her speech as to a meeting being held between
the two of them.  However, the seriousness of the allegations she was about to make
would ordinarily have required more substantiation than she sought or obtained.

3.10 Mrs Arena's allegations as to the meeting between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca, Mr
Sheahan and "Other Important Figures in the ALP"

3.10.1 Having placed on the parliamentary record the full text of Mr Mitchell's article in the
Sun Herald on 17 March 1996, and made allegations concerning a meeting taking
place between Mr Carr and Mr Collins, Mrs Arena stated:

There was also another meeting which took place here at Parliament House late
the following Sunday between Bob Carr; the General Secretary of the Australian
Labor Party, John Della Bosca; party president, Terry Sheahan; and other
important figures in the ALP.  Are these people going to deny the meeting took
place?

I had confirmation by security officers and others unable to talk about it publicly
who could testify to it but are in danger of losing their jobs.  I believe it was all
to organise damage control.  Following the meeting with Peter Collins and the late
meeting at Parliament House, the Premier met with Justice Wood.129

3.10.2 The immediately following passage in Mrs Arena's speech involved assertions that an
"agreement was reached to ensure that people in high places would not be named".130

3.10.3 Shortly afterwards in the speech, Mrs Arena expressed her belief that the fact that
there was not a single high-profile paedophile named or exposed in the public hearings
of the paedophilia inquiry was "due to the fact that it was decided that it was 
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too damaging for the community to have members of Parliament and judges exposed."131

Subsequently Mrs Arena twice makes reference to "a massive cover-up".132

3.10.4 The Committee has separately discussed in this report the issues of the nature of the
agreement alleged, and of the identities of the persons against whom Mrs Arena can
fairly be regarded as making allegations as to their involvement in reaching the
agreement.  However, the threshold question to be examined is Mrs Arena's particular
allegation that Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan, together with other
important figures in the ALP, held a meeting at Parliament House "late the following
Sunday",  that being a matter disputed by the alleged participants.  The Committee's133

larger concern as to this part of Mrs Arena's speech relates to whether Mrs Arena was
alleging that the meeting had a particular purpose as distinct from whether the alleged
meeting did take place between the named participants at Parliament House late on
Sunday 24 March 1996.  However the immediate, yet less important, question of
whether Mrs Arena had any proper basis for alleging as a fact that the meeting did take
place requires separate examination. 

3.10.5 Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan, in their evidence before the Nader Inquiry,
(and which was received as evidence before the Committee) have each denied both the
holding of the meeting and the occurrence of any attempt or agreement in any way to
seek to influence Justice Wood to avoid the naming of high-profile persons who might
be exposed as paedophiles in evidence at the Royal Commission hearings.   Further,134

the records produced by the Deputy Clerk of the Legislative Council to the Nader
Inquiry concerning entries, exits and meetings of Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Mr
Sheahan did not disclose any entry to Parliament House by them on Sunday 24 March
1996.   Mr Beverstock, Security Manager in charge of security at Parliament House,135

gave evidence before the Nader Inquiry that Mrs Arena had not spoken to him either
before or after 17 September 1997 about meetings at Parliament House involving the
Premier and others, nor so far as he was aware had she spoken to any of his security
officers.   Indeed each of the security officers on duty on the evening of Sunday 24136

March 1996 gave evidence to the Nader Inquiry that they were not aware of any
meeting in Parliament House on 24 March 1996 between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca
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and Mr Sheahan and that they had not been approached by Mrs Arena for information
or confirmation concerning the occurrence of such alleged meeting.137

3.10.6 Mrs Arena's explanation to the Committee of the absence of corroboration by security
officers and others concerning the holding of the meeting was that, as stated in her
speech, "I had confirmation by security officers and others unable to talk about it
publicly who could testify to it but are in fear of losing their jobs."   Moreover Mrs138

Arena, in her submission to the Committee says "I was also informed by my Labor
colleagues that a meeting had taken place between Carr, Della Bosca, Terry Sheahan
and some party officials to see what could be done to avert the impending crisis". 139

Mrs Arena also relies upon a conversation with a "former Member of Parliament",
who told her he had been informed that the meeting took place.   Mrs Arena also140

alleges in her submission that a member of security services to whom she spoke in
April 1996 confirmed to her that he had seen two cars coming in on Sunday night and
had recognised the Premier in one of them.   However she says that this security141

guard told her in late August or early September 1997 that it was not he who had seen
the two cars coming in but rather a colleague who had seen the cars and then told
him.142

3.10.7 The Committee's attempts to check Mrs Arena's alleged sources of information were
blocked by her resolute refusal to give the Committee the names of the persons in
question.  Mrs Arena declined to divulge the names of either the "security guard"143

or "my Labor colleagues"  or "the former member of Parliament"  upon whom she144 145

had relied, on the basis that she had undertaken to them to keep their identities
confidential.  Mrs Arena, in her evidence before the Committee, concedes that the
information relied on from her "Labor colleagues" and "the former member of



STANDING COMMITTEE ON PARLIAMENTARY PRIVILEGE AND ETHICS
INQUIRY INTO THE CONDUCT OF THE HONOURABLE FRANCA ARENA

37

    Franca Arena, Evidence, 16 March 1998, Transcripts, p. 116.146

   ibid.147

   Report of the Special Commission of Inquiry into Allegations Made in Parliament by the Honourable Franca148

Arena MLC, the Hon John Nader RFD QC, 7 November 1997, p. 33.

   Franca Arena, unpublished submission concerning conduct, 6 May 1998, p. 6.149

   Franca Arena, submission, 30 January 1998, pp. 3, 4, 27.150

   Franca Arena, unpublished submission concerning conduct, 6 May 1998, p 56.151

   ibid.152

   ibid.153

   ibid.154

Parliament" depended upon information relayed to those persons by others.   She146

admits that she had no evidence beyond what she had been told.147

3.10.8 The evidence given to the Nader Inquiry by the Parliamentary security staff is
consistent with their Security Log Book and the computerised MIL key records and
documents that were contemporaneously created in respect of movements into and out
of Parliament House at the time in question.   Mrs Arena, in her submission to the148

Committee, has modified her assertion as to the location and time of any meeting
between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan by saying that they met "on about
24/3/96"  and recognising that the location of the meeting may have been elsewhere149

than Parliament House.   She says that if her information was wrong about the date150

of the meeting or the persons present, "so be it".   However she maintains her151

evidence as to what she had been told by a security officer,  the former Member of152

Parliament,  as well as other Labor colleagues.153 154

3.10.9 The Committee is therefore confronted with conflicting evidence, which for the most part
establishes that no meeting was held at the time and place alleged by Mrs Arena, but
which falls short of establishing that Mrs Arena in making allegations as to the
occurrence of the relevant meeting was not acting upon information which, however
inaccurate, was genuinely believed by her to be reliable.

3.10.10 The Committee does not consider that Mrs Arena was obliged, prior to making any
allegations concerning the holding of the meeting to check with security staff and
available records in order to attempt to corroborate any information she says she relied
upon in contending that the meeting took place at the particular place and time



STANDING COMMITTEE ON PARLIAMENTARY PRIVILEGE AND ETHICS
INQUIRY INTO THE CONDUCT OF THE HONOURABLE FRANCA ARENA

38

   Parliamentary Debates, Legislative Council, 17 September 1997, p. 63.155

   ibid.156

   ibid.157

   ibid.158

   ibid.159

   ibid. p. 64.160

   ibid.161

nominated by her, namely "here at Parliament House late the following Sunday".155

However the gravity of the matters being alleged by her required more strenuous efforts
on her part to check her facts than in fact occurred.

3.10.11 The Committee considers that the essential thrust of Mrs Arena's speech concerns not
the place and time of the alleged meeting, but rather the nature of the agreement alleged
by her, and the purpose in reaching that agreement which she attributed to specified
persons who she says attended the particular meeting, regardless of its exact date and
location.

3.10.12 Mrs Arena in her speech asserted as to the meeting between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca,
Mr Sheahan and other important figures in the ALP: "I believe it was all to organise
damage control."   The question of the particular purpose of this alleged meeting, and156

of the succession of meetings which Mrs Arena alleges, lies at the heart of examination
of the Committee's examination of Mrs Arena's conduct, and is separately discussed
hereunder.

3.11 Mrs Arena's allegations concerning the meeting between Mr Carr and Justice
Wood

3.11.1 Mrs Arena, in her speech, expressly alleged "Following the meeting with Peter Collins
and the late meeting at Parliament House, the Premier met with Justice Wood."   She157

further stated "What happened at the meeting between Justice Wood and Mr Carr I do
not know ... but I am bold enough to presume that an agreement was reached to ensure
that people in high places would not be named."   The motive attributed to Mr Carr158

and Justice Wood for reaching such an agreement was "as it would have been too
traumatic for the community to realise that many of its so-called upstanding citizens
were involved in criminal activities".   The "result" is described as being that "the159

whole paedophilia inquiry went into another stage".   She referred to the fact that,160

despite the continuation of public hearings, "we never heard of a single high-profile
paedophile being named or exposed"  and stated her belief that "this is due to the fact161
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that it was decided that it was too damaging for the community to have members of
Parliament and judges exposed.  And so the whole matter was swept under the
carpet."162

3.11.2 Mrs Arena, on the face of her speech, appears to be alleging the meeting between Mr
Carr and Justice Wood took place within the same close time frame as the other
meetings earlier referred to, as part of a concert of action aimed at advancing a specific
goal.

3.11.3 Mrs Arena was alleging, in her speech, a meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood
in respect of which the agreement reached was one which she had to "presume"  as she163

conceded she did not know what happened at the meeting, because no "information"
was "leaked".   Indeed, the general impression conveyed by this language in her speech164

is of a meeting where what occurred and in particular what was agreed at the meeting
was deliberately kept secret by those attending the meeting or otherwise responsible for
the meeting being held.  The alleged meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood was
most certainly not being put forward by Mrs Arena as one where the meeting itself, and
the agreement to which it gave rise, were a matter of either official record or public
knowledge, or so intended by its participants.

3.11.4 Mrs Arena's contention in her speech concerning the existence of the particular
agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood was introduced by the words "I am bold
enough to presume that".   The reason plainly given for expressing herself in the165

language of presumption rather than conclusion was that she did not know what
happened at the meeting as no information was leaked.  However the preceding
submissions as to a lack of information which was available either generally or to her do
not dilute the force of the allegations she was making.  The assertion that "I am bold
enough to presume" was not merely a bland description of the tentative or provisional
state of her thinking on the subject, but rather a definite and dramatic proposition which
required her to be "bold", and involved a conclusion which ought be taken as true, until
contrary proof emerged.  The balance of the speech was expressed as positive
conclusions of fact, rather than the mere raising of possibilities.  Indeed her reference
to the "result"  and to "the fact that it was decided"  left no room for doubt that she166 167
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intended her speech to be understood by the media and the community as laying down
for posterity what she wanted recorded as being the derailing of the Royal Commission
in consequence of actual agreements reached at meetings which she firmly believed were
held.  The meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood was an alleged fact, and so also
was the agreement to which she referred; with the language of presumption scarcely
diluting its intended, or probable impact.

3.12 Mrs Arena's allegations as to the purposes behind the meetings and any
agreement

3.12.1 Mrs Arena's allegations that the meetings took place and agreements were reached
followed immediately after her quotation from Mr Mitchell's article of 17 March 1996.
The concluding passages of the quoted article state that after a small group of policemen
who were actively involved in paedophile networks were discovered by the Wood Royal
Commission and were forced to "roll over", the Wood Royal Commission made
"ground-breaking headway into the world of one of Australia's most shameful
secrets".168

3.12.2 Mrs Arena's answer to her own question as to "what happened"  was clearly intended169

by her to be understood as meaning that the Wood Royal Commission was prevented
from performing its function properly as a consequence of three meetings which
produced an agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood "to ensure that people in
high places would not be named".  Moreover Mrs Arena made clear in her speech that
because of the existence of this agreement no members of Parliament or judges were
exposed,  the Royal Commission did not ask for the prosecution of high-profile170

paedophiles on whom it had evidence and witnesses,  and the Royal Commission did171

not even try to get any evidence of those persons who were paedophiles.   The172

"massive cover-up"  to which reference was made was described as being one where173

"important people in our community",  who are "the untouchables in our society"174 175

were given special and favoured treatment by the Royal Commission in the conduct of
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its investigation and public hearings, so that not a single high-profile paedophile from
that favoured group was named or exposed.176

3.12.3 Mrs Arena's speech cannot sensibly be understood as conveying anything other than very
serious allegations that:

(a) Justice Wood failed to perform his public duty as Royal Commissioner;

(b) arising out of a succession of meetings which Mr Carr had with others (including
Mr Collins, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan), Mr Carr and Justice Wood agreed
to confer favoured treatment on persons of social, political or judicial prominence
in the community by ensuring that they would be protected from investigation,
detection, exposure or punishment; and

(c) all participants at the three meetings intended that this result would be achieved
by virtue of Justice Wood's capacity to control the manner in which the Royal
Commission performed its investigative hearing and reporting tasks.

3.13 The purposes attributed by Mrs Arena to the participants at the three alleged
meetings

3.13.1 The Committee observes that Mrs Arena's speech left as a matter of inference the
purposes of and agreements reached by, the participants in the two earlier meetings,
namely the meeting between Mr Carr and Mr Collins, and the subsequent meeting
between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca, Mr Sheahan "and other important figures in the
ALP".

3.13.2 The expression by Mrs Arena of her belief that the meeting at Parliament House "was
all to organise damage control"  may, on one view, be taken as a reference to the type177

of "pro-active damage control"  referred to in Mr Mitchell's article, which consisted178

of preventive steps being taken to mitigate potential electoral damage from a member
of Parliament being adversely named by the Royal Commission.  The article itself refers
to steps taken by the Carr Government to increase benefits to rural communities, and
improve relationships with independent members.179
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3.13.3 However the Committee considers this approach to be unrealistic given the various
indications in her speech that she was alleging that each of the persons named shared a
common purpose of securing agreement to ensure that people in high places would not
be named as paedophiles in the Royal Commission.

3.13.4 Firstly, Mrs Arena's descriptions of the three meetings all convey the same elements of
secrecy and covert behaviour: the meeting between Mr Carr and Mr Collins is described
as one where the meeting was shifted to an unknown date because of the existing
furore,  and the meeting at Parliament House is portrayed as an urgent late night180

meeting where anyone who later talked publicly about it or testified concerning it could
lose their jobs.181

3.13.5 Secondly, the meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood is alleged as the third
meeting,  where the indicated sequence of meetings was put forward not merely in182

chronological order but also as a logical outcome of the two preceding meetings.

3.13.6 Thirdly, where Mrs Arena then made reference to decisions being made  and massive183

cover-ups,  there was no attempt to discriminate between the activities and the184

purposes of any of the persons whom she alleges attended the three meetings.  The later
contention that "there are people who have to answer to future generations as to why
important people such as judges and members of Parliament were given protection"185

involved no suggestion that she was leaving out of this particular group of "people" any
of the persons whom she had alleged attended the three meetings.

3.13.7 Fourthly, the unlikelihood that Mr Collins was being left out of the alleged ring of
wrongdoers can be inferred from the fact that just as Mr Mitchell's article referred to a
flurry of protective activity in both Government and Opposition ranks,  Mrs Arena186

nowhere suggested that the politicians whose protection from exposure was being
sought came only from the Government ranks and not from the Opposition ranks.
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3.13.8 Fifthly, there appears to be little sense in Mrs Arena referring to Mr Collins' meeting
with Mr Carr if that meeting was not intended by Mrs Arena to serve to explain what
Mrs Arena was contending was the deliberate derailing of the Royal Commission so that
politicians and other important figures in the community were given undeserved
protection.

3.13.9 The Committee therefore concludes that Mrs Arena's speech would be reasonably
understood by the media and the community to mean not only that Mr Carr and Justice
Wood met and that "an agreement was reached to ensure that people in high places
would not be named"  but also that two earlier meetings took place, one between Mr187

Carr and Mr Collins, and the other between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan,
to plan the suppression of names of individuals allegedly being investigated by the Royal
Commission into the NSW Police Service.  Despite Mrs Arena's submissions to the
contrary,  the Committee concludes that the Terms of Reference for the Nader188

Inquiry  correctly conveyed the natural effect of the claims made by Mrs Arena in her189

speech on 17 September 1997.  However, as previously stated, the Committee considers
that for the reasons already given, it should wholly disregard the findings made by the
Nader Inquiry, and reach its own independent conclusions and recommendations
concerning Mrs Arena's conduct, constituted by her speech on 17 September 1997.190

3.14 Mrs Arena's explanations of her speech

3.14.1 Mrs Arena says she made no allegations in her speech concerning the making of
agreements between Mr Carr and Mr Collins, or between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and
Mr Sheahan.   She contends that the terms of reference for the Nader Inquiry were191

misleading in that they refer to claims which she did not make.   She says "My speech192

does not claim that Collins met to plan the suppression of names, nor does my speech
claim that Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca and Sheahan met to plan the suppression of
names."193
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3.14.2 Mrs Arena contends that she was not alleging any "serious criminal conduct"  on the194

part of the persons referred to in her speech of 17 September 1997 as attending the
particular meetings.  She contends that she did not speak of criminal offences,  and in195

particular, made no allegation of the existence of a conspiracy or of any criminal,
unlawful or corrupt agreement by the named persons.   She contends that she did not196

allege a breach of the law,  or a conspiracy to break the law or pervert justice,  and197 198

repeats on a number of occasions in her written submissions and oral evidence that no
conspiracy was alleged by her.199

3.14.3 Mrs Arena further explains that in referring in her speech to a "massive cover-up"  she200

was merely contending that Justice Wood did not have the type of expanded Terms of
Reference which she thought was necessary to investigate all aspects of paedophilia, and
that in consequence, Justice Wood, by adhering to the limits imposed by the Terms of
Reference, as he was obliged to do, refrained from investigation and inquiry into
paedophile conduct by individuals in the community.   According to Mrs Arena's201

explanations both in her submission and evidence, the purpose of limiting the Terms of
Reference was to prevent the public from becoming disturbed by revelations of
paedophile conduct by important people, and to avoid potential electoral damage arising
from revelations of paedophile conduct amongst members of Parliament.202

3.14.4 Further, Mrs Arena says that there was nothing sinister about Mr Carr and Justice Wood
discussing the Terms of Reference regarding paedophilia in October 1996.   However203

she complains that as the result of such meeting, including any preceding meetings
between them, an agreement was reached by them to have narrow Terms of Reference
for the paedophile segment of the Royal Commission, and that this agreement ensured
that no inquiry into all aspects of paedophilia would occur and, thus no high profile
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paedophiles would be named.   Mrs Arena has explained that where she stated204

concerning Mr Carr and Justice Wood that "an agreement was reached to ensure that
the people in high places ....", she would on further reflection, prefer to make her
originally intended meaning clearer by amending the words "to ensure" to read "which
had the effect of ensuring".   She says that such an amendment would clarify her205

position that she was not alleging that the sole purpose of the agreement was to protect
high-profile paedophiles from disclosure and that what she really meant to convey was
that the purpose of the agreement (ultimately reached by Mr Carr and Justice Wood in
October 1996), was to have limited Terms of Reference preventing an inquiry into all
aspects of paedophilia, with the result that high profile paedophiles would not be
investigated or named.206

3.15 The date of the alleged agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood

3.15.1 Mrs Arena particularly emphasises that when speaking of the meeting and agreement
between Mr Carr and Justice Wood, she was not referring to events in March 1996
shortly after the Sun Herald article by Mr Alex Mitchell, but rather to the fact that in
October 1996 Mr Carr secured the agreement of Justice Wood as to the content of
amended Terms of Reference for the paedophile segment of the Royal Commission into
the Police Service .  In short, Mrs Arena contends that she was engaging in legitimate207

political criticism  of the limited Terms of Reference governing the paedophilia208

reference of the Wood Royal Commission, as determined by Mr Carr and agreed to by
Justice Wood in October 1996.

3.15.2 There is considerable evidence that Mrs Arena intended to convey in her speech that Mr
Carr and Justice Wood reached a covert agreement in about March 1996, rather than
an agreement which was a matter of undisputed record in October 1996.

3.15.3 The Committee's initial difficulty with accepting Mrs Arena's explanation that she was
merely referring to a perfectly legal, yet politically improper, decision as to the scope of
the event of Terms of Reference in October 1996, is that such an interpretation does not
naturally arise from the terms in which she made her speech.  In her speech, the
agreement reached between Mr Carr and Justice Wood was one which occurred at a



STANDING COMMITTEE ON PARLIAMENTARY PRIVILEGE AND ETHICS
INQUIRY INTO THE CONDUCT OF THE HONOURABLE FRANCA ARENA

46

   Parliamentary Debates, Legislative Council, 17 September 1997, p. 64.209

   ibid.210

   ibid.211

   Franca Arena, submission, 30 January 1998, pp. 28-29, 41.212

   Parliamentary Debates, Legislative Council, 17 September 1997, p. 64.213

   ibid.214

   ibid.215

   Clive Small, Evidence, 15 May 1998, Transcripts, pp. 331-349.216

meeting where because "no information was leaked"  she does not know "what209

happened"  and has to "presume" the agreement which was reached.   This does not210 211

fit in with her explanation to the Committee that the agreement referred to was merely
the agreement by Justice Wood to the Terms of Reference proposed by Mr Carr in
October 1996 in respect of which there was a public announcement by means of an
official press release.212

3.15.4 Moreover, the context in which Mrs Arena refers in her speech to a succession of three
meetings, would appear to suggest a time frame close to 17 March 1996 when the Sun
Herald article was published and 18 March 1996 when the Royal Commission was due
to commence hearings on its paedophile reference.  The agreement which Mrs Arena
alleges appears to have been put forward to explain why during the entire currency of
the paedophile inquiry not a single high-profile paedophile was named or exposed,  and213

why the Royal Commission "did not even try" to get evidence to catch some of the high-
profile paedophiles in the community,  and "the whole matter was swept under the214

carpet".  Although Mrs Arena makes subsequent reference to the amended Terms of215

Reference issued by Mr Carr on 22 October 1996, her speech does not simply proffer
those Terms of Reference as being the explanation for what she sees to be the limited
activities by the Royal Commission.  The three meetings that she alleges at the start of
her speech are plainly held out by her as being the reason why the Royal Commission
failed to achieve any effect in terms of identifying and exposing paedophiles.

3.15.5 The Committee's conclusion that Mrs Arena, in discussing this alleged agreement
between Mr Carr and Justice Wood, was referring to a covert meeting in about March
1996 rather than a position publicly arrived at in October 1996 was fortified by evidence
which is discussed hereunder, from Commander Clive Small as to what Mrs Arena
alleged to him on 19 March 1997, as to an agreement reached by Mr Carr and Justice
Wood.  The Committee recognises that although Commander Small's evidence 216
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bears upon Mrs Arena's intentions and beliefs at the time when she made the speech on 17
September 1997, his evidence is incapable of altering the manner in which that speech would have
been understood by the community at the time when it was made.

3.16 Allegations made by Mrs Arena to Commander Small on 19 March 1997

3.16.1 On 19 March 1997 Mrs Arena met with Commander Clive Small of the NSW Police
Service at the Sydney Police Centre.  Commander Small took handwritten notes of the
meeting, and produced those notes to the Committee.  According to Commander217

Small's recollection, and as confirmed by his handwritten notes, Mrs Arena told him
following publication of a Sun Herald article in September 1996 "which described how
the Royal Commission was about to call prominent people",  there was a meeting218

between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca, Mr Sheahan and other party officials to discuss the
story, and that subsequent to that meeting Mr Carr "went to see Justice Wood and the
Royal Commission then did not follow-up on the paedophile inquiry".   Mrs Arena219

expressed to Commander Small her "theory" that Mr Carr had put to Justice Wood "If
you don't mention members of Parliament we won't mention judges".   Mrs Arena220

further contended that "they were going to close the Royal Commission and then when
the Yeldham matter was mentioned the paedophile inquiry opened and proceeded".221

3.16.2 On 21 March 1997, some two days after his meeting with Mrs Arena, Commander Small
had a meeting with Senior Counsel assisting the Royal Commission into the Police
Service, Mr Gary Crooke QC, Junior Counsel assisting the Royal Commission, Paddy
Bergin, and Senior Counsel representing the NSW Police Service, Michael Finnane QC
and related to them what Mrs Arena had told him on 19 March 1997.  The Committee
has seen a note kept by Ms Bergin of that meeting.   According to paragraph 5 of her222

note of what Commander Small had reported at the meeting on 21 March 1997 he was
told by Mrs Arena on 19 March 1997:

Arena put a chronology to him about a Sydney Morning Herald article in September
1996 which said that the Commission was going to do certain things in respect of
Judges and MPs.  There was then a meeting of the Labor Party group including Mr
Carr and Mr Della Bosca.  She alleges that later that week Carr met with Wood and
that there was an agreement in the following terms:  Carr says If you don't name the
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politicians, we won't name the Judges.  After that there were articles about the
Commission closing down.  Franca also claimed all credit for anything that has
happened in the last three months in the Royal Commission.223

3.16.3 Mr Small obtained the impression from speaking with Mrs Arena that she was referring
to the meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood and the preceding meeting between
Mr Carr and Mr Della Bosca as both occurring within "a very short timeframe".224

Although the note by Ms Bergin does not refer to Mrs Arena's allegation as to the
agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood as being a "theory", Commander Small
stated that he used the expression "theory" in reporting at the meeting concerning his
conversation with Mrs Arena two days earlier, even if the word "theory" was not
duplicated in the note of the meeting on 21 March 1997.225

3.17 The effect of Commander Small's evidence upon Mrs Arena's explanation as to the
date of the agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood

3.17.1 The Committee has already, for the reasons given above, concluded that Mrs Arena's
speech, where it referred to an agreement being reached between Mr Carr and Justice
Wood "to ensure that people in high places would not be named"  was not merely226

referring to the amended Terms of Reference proposed by Mr Carr and agreed to by
Justice Wood in October 1996, but to a covert agreement reached between Mr Carr and
Justice Wood as the culmination of a series of meetings between Mr Carr and other
persons for the same purpose in March 1996.227

3.17.2 The Committee is fortified in this view by Commander Small's evidence that when Mrs
Arena met with him on 19 March 1997, he placed the meeting between Mr Carr, Mr
Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan and the meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood within
the same very short timeframe.  The Committee concludes that the 7 month gap between
March 1996 and October 1996 makes it extremely unlikely that Mrs Arena's present
explanation of her intentions coincided with her beliefs when she spoke to Mr Small or
when she gave the speech on 17 September 1997.  The Committee concludes that the
very short timeframe for the two meetings coincides with that which is conveyed by the
sense of what Mrs Arena actually said on the subject in her speech on 17 September
1997.
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3.17.3 The Committee also notes that the above conclusions are consistent with the manner in
which Mrs Arena in various passages of her evidence conveyed the belief that at the time
when the meetings and agreement took place as alleged in her speech, the Government
majority was only one seat.  The Government won the Clarence by-election on 25 May
1996, which meant that the relevant meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood cannot
sensibly be understood as having occurred in October 1996, because by that stage the
Government had a majority of three seats. The fact that Mrs Arena contends that she
believed that Mr Carr's motive for reaching the relevant agreement was "to protect his
Parliamentary majority"  is more consistent with Mrs Arena at the time of her speech228

believing or intending to convey that the meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood
took place while the Government's majority was one seat only, as it was before the
Clarence by-election on 25 May 1996.

3.17.4 Further the allegations made by Mrs Arena as to the holding of all three meetings follow
immediately upon her lengthy quotation from Mr Mitchell's article in the Sun Herald on
17 March 1996, in which it was reported that "If any of the named child sex
practitioners are from the Labor side, it has the potential to oust the Carr Government
which is in office by a majority of just one seat".   The speech by Mrs Arena in the229

Committee's view would have been reasonably understood to convey that the three
meetings referred to and the consequent agreement, occurred immediately after the date
of the article on 17 March 1996, and at a time when the Carr Government had a
majority of just one seat.  Since the Carr Government, by virtue of the Clarence by-
election on 25 May 1996, had a majority of three seats, it is quite unlikely that the
community would understand, or Mrs Arena would intend the speech to convey, that
the relevant agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood occurred in October 1996
when the amended Terms of Reference were decided upon.

3.17.5 The Committee rejects Mrs Arena's evidence and her submissions that when referring
to a meeting between Mr Carr and Justice Wood and an agreement being reached
between them at such meeting, she was merely referring to events in October 1996 when
the amended Terms of Reference of the Royal Commission were agreed upon.  The
Committee considers it to be indisputable that her allegations as to a meeting and
agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood related to an entirely different type of
agreement of an improper kind, reached in about March 1996.
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Chapter Four

PRIVILEGE AND SANCTIONS

FREEDOM OF SPEECH

4.1 Bill of Rights 1689

4.1.1 The privilege of freedom of speech is fundamental to the work performed by Members
of Parliament. The privilege has its origin in Article 9 of the Bill of Rights 1689 (Imp),
which states:

That the freedom of speech and debate or proceedings in Parliament ought not
to be impeached or questioned in any court or place outside of Parliament.230

4.1.2 The privilege of freedom of speech in the Westminster system is considered to be an
absolute privilege, and in the absence of express statutory waiver, protects parliamentary
speech from interference and scrutiny by the judicial and executive arms of government.

4.1.3 According to May: “[s]ubject to the rules of order in debate, a Member may state
whatever he thinks fit in debate, however offensive it may be to the feelings, or injurious
to the character, of individuals; and he is protected by his privilege from any action for
libel, as well as from any other question or molestation.”  The importance of the231

privilege of freedom of speech has been described by Professor Enid Campbell in the
following terms:

Freedom of speech and debate in parliament is one of the most cherished of all
parliamentary privileges, without which parliaments probably would degenerate into
polite but ineffectual debating societies. Freedom of speech and the associated
powers of the Houses to determine their own order and subjects of debate, the
English parliamentarians of the sixteenth and seventeenth century believed was the
key to parliamentary supremacy - supremacy over the Crown and its ministers.232

4.2 Limitations

4.2.1 However, while article 9 provides absolute freedom from outside interference, debate
in the House is still subject to the rules which Parliament itself imposes. In the
Legislative Council, for example, the rules of order in debate preclude the use of
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offensive language (SO 80), irreverent reference to the Queen or her representative (SO
79), reflection upon votes of the House (SO 78), and the imputation of improper
motives and personal reflections upon Members of either House (SO 81). Rulings from
the Chair have also precluded irreverent reference and personal reflections upon judges,
and have limited debate on matters deemed sub judice. In addition, a Member’s conduct
both within and outside the House is subject to the House’s powers to deal with
contempt, such as its powers to impose sanctions where a Member is adjudged guilty
of “conduct unworthy of a Member” of the House.

4.2.2 When a Member does breach the rules of debate or engages in “unworthy” conduct the
House is able to take action to protect itself.  As May states “article IX preserves the
authority of both Houses [of the British Parliament] to restrain and even punish their
Members who, by their conduct, offend the House.”   Members of the British233

Parliament have been frequently called to account and punished by the House for
offensive words spoken before the House.  Some have been admonished, others
imprisoned, and in the Commons some have even been expelled.  The right of the House
of Lords to commit a peer for words spoken in the House was recognised by the Court
of Kings Bench in Shaftesbury’s case. However, as May indicates, in recent years “the
disciplinary powers of privilege are not normally resorted to” since offensive words are
dealt with summarily under the Standing Orders.234

SANCTIONS IN THE LEGISLATIVE COUNCIL

4.3 Powers of the House

4.3.1 The NSW Parliament, unlike other parliaments in Australia, has not yet legislated
comprehensively for its privileges. In the absence of legislation, the NSW Houses of
Parliament must rely on their inherent powers. The inherent powers of the Parliament
of New South Wales have been given judicial recognition in the following terms:

...there exist well-recognized overriding common-law principles which enlarge
Parliamentary power...the first or primary essentials may be stated thus: in the
absence of express grant the Legislative Council possesses such powers and
privileges as are implied by reason of necessity; the necessity which occasions the
implication of a particular power or privilege is such as is necessary to the existence
of the Council or to the due and orderly exercise of its functions.235

4.3.2 The Courts have held that those powers which are “necessary” to the existence of the
House or to the due exercise of its functions are protective and self defensive only, and
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not punitive.  In this regard, the powers of formerly subordinate legislatures such as236

the Parliament of NSW differ from those of the House of Commons, where the power
to punish for contempt has been clearly established.

4.3.3 In view of the limited powers of the House, any action on behalf of the House, whether
against a member of the public or against a Member of the House, must be demonstrably
to protect the House and its dignity, and not seek to impose punishment or retribution.
Whether a sanction is ultimately self-protective or punitive can depend on a number of
factors, and there is no clearly established rule. As Enid Campbell states:

Since Kielley v Carson, the courts have consistently held that the inherent self-
protective powers of the houses of colonial legislatures do not extend to punishment
for breach of privilege, contempt, or for any other cause. What constitutes
punishment in this context is not altogether clear. It includes imprisonment and
probably fines, but it has also been held to include suspension of a member for an
indefinite period of time, arrest of a member after he has left the chamber so that he
might be brought back, and exclusion of a validly suspended member from a lodge
set aside for use by country members.237

4.4 Types of sanctions available

4.4.1 Subject to the limitations on the Parliament’s inherent powers outlined above, the House
has a number of sanctions available to it where it considers that a contempt has been
committed. These include reprimand and admonishment; apology and withdrawal of
words spoken; censure; suspension, either for a stated period of time or until the
submission of an apology; and expulsion.

Reprimand and admonishment

4.4.2 The House has the power to order a member of the public to attend at the Bar of the
House to be reprimanded or admonished by the President in the name and by the
authority of the House. Any such reprimand or admonishment is entered into the
Minutes. Members of the House may similarly be reprimanded or admonished while
standing in their place. Recently in the House of Commons, Members have been
formally reprimanded and suspended,  with loss of salary for the period of suspension.238

Apology and withdrawal of words spoken

4.4.3 In debate, when a Member uses offensive language (SO 80) or imputes improper
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motives (SO 81) it is normal practice for a point of order to be taken at the time that the
Member offends. If the President rules that the words spoken are offensive or impute
improper motives, then the Member is required to withdraw them immediately. Failure
to do so can result in suspension of the Member concerned. If the words spoken are
considered to be so grave that their simple withdrawal is deemed insufficient, the House
is within its power to order the Member not only to withdraw them but to make a formal
apology as well. The form of the apology would depend on the nature of the words
spoken, and could conceivably include the requirement to apologise to particular
individuals, if such was considered necessary.

Censure

4.4.4 A ‘vote of censure’ is usually a motion expressing lack of confidence in the Government
or a particular Minister. However, there is nothing which prevents such a motion being
moved against a private Member, and there have been recent examples of motions of
censure against private Members in both the Council  and the Senate, although in the239

Council none has proceeded beyond the giving of notice.  A censure motion against240

a private Member has no constitutional or legal consequences, but can have a significant
political impact.

Suspension

4.4.5 Suspension and expulsion are the more severe forms of disciplinary action which can be
taken by the House against its Members. Suspension from the House usually results
from disregarding the authority of the Chair or abusing the rules of the House and is
carried out under Standing Orders 259 and 260 . However, under its inherent or241

implied powers, the House may suspend a Member for matters other than “a wilful or
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vexatious breach of ... the Standing Rules and Orders”.  For example, Members have242

been suspended from the House of Commons in respect of the terms of a letter
addressed by a Member to the Speaker and of his conduct in the House on preceding
days; for publishing a letter reflecting on the Speaker’s conduct in the Chair; for
damaging the mace (after the House had risen) and conduct towards the Chair on a
preceding day; and for conduct falling below the standards the House was entitled to
expect.

4.4.6 The most recent instance of a Member of the House of Commons being found guilty of
conduct “below the standards which the House is entitled to expect” in 1994. In its First
Report for the Session 1994-95, the House of Commons Committee of Privileges found
that the conduct of two Members, in accepting cash to the amount of £1000 in return
for tabling a question in Parliament, while not amounting to bribery, was nonetheless
“dishonourable and damaging to the standing and reputation of Parliament.”  In243

reaching this conclusion the Committee relied on the Clerk’s submission that “there is
a general obligation upon Members not to allow their conduct to fall below the
standards which the House is entitled to expect of them and acts relating to conduct
which materially damage the standing and reputation of the House are a contempt, and
as such are breaches of its privileges.”  The Members concerned were eventually244

suspended from the service of the House, with corresponding suspension of salary, one
for a period of 10 days and the other for a period of 20 days.  Unlike the House of245

Commons, the Council has no power to suspend the salary of a Member for the term of
their suspension.

4.4.7 The nature of the suspension may be a critical factor that the Courts would take into
consideration if any issue arose as to whether the suspension was self-protection or
punishment. While suspension for a fixed period could reasonably be deemed as
protective and self-protective, a long term suspension could be seen as a punishment.
Suspension for an indefinite time was found by the Privy Council in Barton v. Taylor to
be beyond the powers of the NSW Legislative Assembly since unconditional suspension
is not necessary to the existence of the House nor to the exercise of its functions.246

Suspension until compliance with a specific order of the House, such as withdrawal of
specific words or an apology, regardless of the length of time involved, could constitute
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a reasonable and self-protective action rather than a punishment since the length of the
suspension is at the discretion of the Member concerned rather than the House.

4.4.8 Recent examples of suspension of Members from the Legislative Council include both
Ms Bignold (18 October 1989) and Ms Kirkby (14 November 1994),  for refusing to247

withdraw words when directed to by the Chair, and Mr Egan (2 May 1996), for failing
to table papers when directed to by motion of the House.  Ms Bignold and Ms Kirkby248

were suspended under the authority of the Standing Orders, whereas Mr Egan was
suspended by the House acting under its implied and inherent common law powers.

Expulsion

4.4.9 The British House of Commons has claimed the power to expel members since at least
the sixteenth century and May lists a wide variety of causes for which Members have
been expelled.   While expulsion is still regarded by the House of Commons as a249

method of punishment at their disposal, it is rarely used nowadays.   As noted above,250

in recent years the House of Commons has reprimanded and suspended Members with
loss of salary.  251

4.4.10 The only case of expulsion in the NSW Legislative Council is that of Mr Alexander
Ewan Armstrong, who was expelled in 1969 for “conduct unworthy of a Member”.252

The conduct which led to Mr Armstrong’s expulsion included giving evidence in court
proceedings that he would consider bribing a judge and procure false evidence in a
divorce trial.  Subsequently, Mr Armstrong unsuccessfully challenged the validity of253
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the House’s actions in the NSW Court of Appeal.  254

4.4.11 In upholding the validity of the expulsion, the Court of Appeal held that the powers
which are “necessary” to the existence of the House and the proper exercise of its
functions include:

...in a proper case a power of expulsion for reasonable cause... provided the
circumstances are special and its exercise is not a cloak for punishment of the
offender.255

4.4.12 The important factor which led the Court to uphold the inherent power of expulsion in
that particular case was the need to protect:

the integrity of those who participate therein which is essential to mutual trust and
confidence amongst the members.256

4.4.13 There have been three cases of expulsion in the Legislative Assembly: Mr RA Baker in
1881, Mr William Patrick Crick in 1890, and Mr Richard Atkinson Price in 1917.

4.5 ‘Conduct Unworthy’

4.5.1 There can be no doubt that the House has the power to expel a Member for ‘conduct
unworthy’. However, what constitutes unworthy conduct is much less clear. In support
of the validity of the House’s resolution to expel Mr Armstrong (for conduct committed
outside the House), the Solicitor-General based his argument on the following criteria:

The Houses of the legislature of New South Wales have inherent or implied power
to exclude temporarily or permanently by suspension or exclusion members whose
conduct is resolved to be such:

(1) As to render them unfit to perform their high responsibilities and
functions in the Council as members.

(2) As would prevent the Council and other members thereof from
conducting its deliberations and exercising its functions with mutual
respect, trust and candour.

(3) As would cause to be suspect its honour and the good faith of its
deliberations.
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(4) As would tend to bring the Council into disrepute and would lower its
authority and dignity unless it was so preserved and maintained.257

4.5.2 Sugerman JA, in his judgement in Armstrong v. Budd held that:

...the proper discharge of the legislative function by the Council demands an orderly
conduct of its business is undoubted. That it demands honesty and probity of its
members should be equally undoubted. Indeed, the need for removal and replacement
of a dishonest member may be more imperative as a matter of self-preservation, than
that of an unruly member. ... 

The proceedings of a House of Parliament must be more than merely orderly in this
sense. They require, as do the proceedings of a court of law, the existence of a mutual
trust and confidence between those who are concerned therein which cannot exist if
there is amongst the members one whose conduct has demonstrated that he is
unworthy of such trust and confidence. The removal from membership of the House
of such a member is not, as I have earlier said, an act of punishment of him for his
misconduct such as would lie beyond the doctrine of necessity. It is... ‘entirely
protective’.

...the continued presence of an unworthy member is inconsistent with the honor and
dignity of the House and thus inimical to its authority and standing and the respect
in which it should be held by the community. But the cardinal principle is that the
implied grant of powers on the ground of necessity, in whichever of the foregoing
ways that necessity be stated, comprehends not only the orderly conduct of
deliberations in the sense of freedom from disturbance and unseemly conduct but also
the integrity of those who participate therein which is essential to mutual trust and
confidence amongst the members.258

4.5.3 The undue and gratuitous abuse of the freedom of speech that Members of Parliament
enjoy has been held to damage the standing and dignity of the House. As the Report
from the House of Commons Select Committee on Parliamentary Privilege of 1967
indicates:

In considering contempt Your Committee have so far referred primarily to contempts
by strangers. They do not overlook the fact, however, that contempt may (and has
been held to) include the conduct of a Member or Officer, whether within or outside
the Chamber or the precincts, which is so improper or disorderly as to amount to an
abuse of the Member’s or Officer’s position. An example of such misconduct would
be gross abuse by a Member of his rights and immunities, for example by maliciously
making under cover of the absolute privilege afforded by the Bill of Rights a gross
defamatory attack upon a stranger or upon another Member of the House. The House
has power, by the exercise of its penal jurisdiction, to control such abuse. If conduct
of this kind is committed in the Chamber itself in sight or hearing of Mr Speaker, he
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has power to take immediate notice of it and to act against the offending Member in
the name of the house. In this respect no distinction can be drawn between an abuse
consisting of an assault, unparliamentary language, a refusal to withdraw improper
imputation and a malicious and grossly defamatory accusation. Each could be treated
equally as a contempt of the House.259

4.5.4 If a Member’s conduct is found to fall within any of the above categories, the House is
within its power to move for their expulsion, providing such action is clearly self
protective and not punitive. While it can be argued that “expulsion is a matter which
concerns the House itself and its composition, and amounts to no more than an
expression of opinion that the person expelled is unfit to be a member of the House. .
.”,  it is true that the House of Commons has used expulsion as a sanction where it has260

clearly been for punitive purposes:

Since the House [of Commons] is recognized to have power to punish breaches of
privilege and contempt of parliament, it has apparently never been found necessary
to consider whether the power to expel is limited in any way, and it is clear that
expulsion has in fact been used as a sanction in circumstances in which a house
possessing only self-protective powers would be powerless to act.261

4.5.5 Expulsion, while vacating the seat of a Member, does not create any disability to serve
again in the House, if re-elected. However unlike the House of Commons and even the
NSW Legislative Assembly, where the expelled Member is at liberty to contest their
own vacancy in a by-election, a vacancy arising from the expulsion of a Member from
the NSW Legislative Council would be filled according to the provisions of the NSW
Constitution Act 1902, which effectively disbar the expelled Member from contesting
their own vacancy.

4.6 1989 case - Conduct of Revd Mr Nile, MLC

4.6.1 In 1989 the then Standing Committee Upon Parliamentary Privilege considered a
reference from the Council (following debate and division) concerning a possible
contempt arising from statements contained in a letter circulated by Revd Mr Nile, a
Member of the House, to co-ordinators of the Call to Australia Citizens’ Movement.262
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The letter claimed that a Select Committee of the House,  under its Chairman, was263

conducting a “witch-hunt” with the aim of discrediting a Government Minister and
gaining electoral advantage for the Australian Labor Party (then in opposition).

4.6.2 In its report, the Privileges Committee considered the practice in the House of
Commons where speeches and writings reflecting on the House and reflections on
Members have been treated as contempt.  However, the Committee also took note of
an analogous case where the Commons Committee of Privileges had found that although
some of the language used by the Member concerned might have reflected on Members
of the House, the statements in question could not properly have been considered to
damage or obstruct the work of the House and so to amount to a contempt. The Council
Committee concluded that similar considerations apply in this case.   It took the view264

that although Revd Mr Nile may have been “intemperate and unwise” in his actions and
may have reflected on the motives of Members of the Select Committee, the language
used could not reasonably be understood as obstructing or impeding the Select
Committee or its Members in the discharge of their duty, and the Member’s actions did
not therefore constitute a contempt.  The Committee endorsed the practice approved265

by the House of Commons in 1978 that the House exercise its jurisdiction as sparingly
as possible.266

4.6.3 In reaching these conclusions the Committee commented:

Whilst recognising it is the duty of the House to intervene in cases which tend, or
may tend to undermine public confidence in and respect for the House itself and of
the institution of Parliament, [the] Committee believe that the law of parliamentary
privilege should not, except in the clearest case, be invoked in such a way as to
inhibit or discourage the free expression of opinion or criticism, outside the House
by Members equally with other persons, however prejudiced, uninformed or
exaggerated it may be.  267

4.6.4 A factor taken into account by the Committee in this case was that the letter was
intended to have been a confidential communication between Revd Mr Nile and his co-
ordinators and therefore of limited circulation. The Committee endorsed
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recommendations of a Commons Committee in 1976-7  to the effect that the mode and268

extent of publication of a contempt should be taken into account when complaints of
contempt are being considered.269

4.6.5 Although not expressly referred to in the Committee’s reasoning, the factual account of
the matter set out in the Committee’s Report indicates that Revd Mr Nile had written
to the Chairman of the Select Committee apologising for “any unnecessary hurt or
embarrassment” which the letter may have caused.  He had also made a personal270

explanation in the House apologising and withdrawing “any possible imputations of
improper motives and all personal reflections on Members of the House or on this
House or any select committee which may be stated or implied...” in the letter.271

Furthermore, in evidence to the Privileges Committee he expressed regret at the
language used.272

SANCTIONS IN OTHER JURISDICTIONS 

4.7 Legislative Assembly of NSW

4.7.1 In addition to the inherent powers, the powers of the NSW Parliament are governed by
the Standing Orders of each House. As with the Legislative Council, the Assembly
Standing Orders regulate the rules of debate, and any Member offending against these
rules is subject to the same sanctions as in the Council. Members of the Assembly have
been censured, required to withdraw words and to apologise to the House, suspended,
and expelled. 

4.7.2 Under Legislative Assembly Standing Order 288, if a Member is called to order by the
Speaker or Chairman of Committees more than three times in any one sitting for any
gross breach of the rules, the Speaker or Chairman may direct that the Member be
removed from the Chamber for the remainder of that sitting. More serious cases of
disorder are dealt with under Standing Order 289. This states that a Member may be
“named” by the Speaker or Chairman for certain types of conduct, including
“persistently and wilfully obstructing the business of the House”, “using offensive words
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and refusing to withdraw them” and being guilty of disorderly conduct. Once a Member
has been “named”, a Minister moves forthwith “That the Member be suspended from
the service of the House” (Standing Order 290). No debate is allowed on the motion,
but the Member concerned may make an explanation limited to five minutes. The
duration of a suspension is two sitting days for the first time a Member is suspended in
a session, four days for the second time and eight days for each subsequent time
(Standing Order 292).On several occasions when an intimation has been conveyed to
the Speaker by the Serjeant-at-Arms that the Member removed from the Chamber was
prepared to apologise, the Member has been readmitted.273

4.7.3 While the Standing Orders of the Legislative Council are silent on the power of the
House to expel a member for conduct unworthy, Standing Order 294 of the Legislative
Assembly provides that:

A Member adjudged guilty of conduct unworthy of a Member of Parliament may be
expelled by vote of the House, and the seat declared vacant.

4.7.4 Mr Ezekiel Alexander Baker was expelled from the Legislative Assembly on 9
November 1881 for “conduct unworthy of a Member and seriously reflecting upon the
honor and dignity of Parliament.”  Having been granted a mineral lease near Cowra on274

land which had already been sold by the Crown, Baker was found by a Royal
Commission to have received money in compensation “under circumstances of
concealment and false statement, evidencing a consciousness on [his] part, that such
appropriation was unauthorised and unjustifiable.”  In April 1883 Baker petitioned for275

the rescission of the censure motion passed against him on 8 November 1881, the day
prior to his expulsion. After lengthy debate, on 1 May 1883 the Assembly agreed by 23
votes to 21 to rescind the censure motion of 1881, on the ground that Baker was
actually entitled to the money he had received.276

4.7.5 On 12 November 1890 Mr William Patrick Crick was expelled when, having been
reported by the Chairman for disregarding and defying the ruling of the Chairman in
Committee of the Whole, he violently resisted the Serjeant-at-Arms when the Serjeant
was directed by the Speaker to remove him, and generally causing a great disorder and
scandal.  Although Crick forwarded his resignation to the Speaker while debate on the277

motion for his expulsion was still in progress, the motion was nonetheless proceeded
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with and carried.

4.7.6 The most recent case of expulsion in the Assembly occurred on 17 October 1917 when
Mr Richard Atkinson Price was expelled by resolution of the House for conduct
unworthy of a Member of Parliament and seriously reflecting on the dignity of the
House. The conduct for which Price was expelled involved allegations which he had
made in the Legislative Assembly on 13 December 1916 and 5 September 1917 against
the Minister for Lands and Forests, the Hon William George Ashford. A Royal
Commission was appointed to investigate the allegations and concluded that the
allegations had been made ‘wantonly and recklessly and without any foundation
whatsoever.’ It was on the basis of this conclusion that the motion for Price’s expulsion
was moved.

4.7.7 On 10 November 1917, less than a month after his expulsion, Price was re-elected at a
by-election for the seat of Gloucester. 

4.8 Federal Parliament

4.8.1 Section 49 of the Federal Constitution provides that:

The powers, privileges and immunities of the Senate and of the House of
Representatives, and of the members and the committees of each House, shall be
such as are declared by the Parliament, and until declared shall be those of the
Commons House of Parliament of the United Kingdom, and of its members and
committees, at the establishment of the Commonwealth.

In 1987 the Federal Parliament legislated for its privileges.278

4.8.2 Disorder in the House is dealt with under the Standing Orders, and both Senators and
Members have been suspended for offences committed in the House. The term of the
suspension in the first instance is for the remainder of the day in the case of a Senator
and for 24 hours in the case of a Member of the House of Representatives. Subsequent
suspensions are for longer periods, and both Houses retain the right to impose a greater
penalty if that course is considered appropriate. Suspension of a Senator for disorder is
now very rare in the Senate. Suspension of a Member of the House of Representatives
is more common, where suspensions have included suspension from the service of the
House until a Member returned and apologised to the Speaker, and 
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for the remainder of the Session unless the Member sooner unreservedly retracted words spoken
outside the House reflecting on the Speaker, and apologised to the House.279

4.8.3 As indicated in the 1984 report of the Joint Committee on Privilege, both the Senate and
the House of Representatives have the undoubted capacity to investigate and deal with
any Member who is judged to have abused the privilege of freedom of speech.  Each280

House also has the power to declare an act to be a contempt and impose some form of
corresponding punishment, even where there is no precedent for such an act previously
being judged and punished.  The rationale of the power to punish contempts is that the281

two Houses should be able to protect themselves from acts which directly or indirectly
impede them in the performance of their functions.

4.8.4 The Parliamentary Privileges Act 1987 (Cth) codified the powers of both Houses to
impose penalties. In addition to the general sanctions available, such as reprimand and
suspension, section 7 of the Act allows either House to impose fixed terms of
imprisonment and fines for contempts of Parliament.

4.8.5 The Senate has imposed a penalty for a contempt only once, in 1971, when the editor
and publisher of certain newspaper were reprimanded before the Bar of the Senate for
publishing a draft committee report without authorisation.  In other cases, the Senate282

has found that contempts have been committed, but has taken no further action. The
only case of a penalty of imprisonment being imposed in the federal Parliament occurred
in 1955, when the House of Representatives imprisoned two persons for attempting to
intimidate a Member. The action was examined and upheld in the High Court (R. v.
Richards: ex parte Fitzpatrick and Browne 1955 92 CLR 157).  283

4.8.6 Before the enactment of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1987 (Cth), the Federal
Parliament had the power, by virtue of section 49, to expel members for punitive
purposes. However, under section 8 of the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1987 (Cth)
that power has been removed, and neither the Senate nor the House of Representatives
now have the power to expel a Member from membership of the House.’
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4.8.7 Prior to the 1987 Act, only one member of the Commonwealth Parliament had been
expelled. On 7 November 1920, Mr Hugh Mahon, an ‘Irish-Catholic patriot’, was
expelled following a public address at an Irish Ireland League meeting in Melbourne in
which he attacked British policy. A resolution calling for the establishment of an
Australian republic was also passed at the meeting.284

4.8.8 On 11 November 1920, a motion was moved in the House of Representatives judging
Mr Mahon “guilty of conduct unfitting him to remain as a Member of this House and
inconsistent with the oath of allegiance” and expelling him from the House. The motion
was carried the next day and Mr Mahon’s seat declared vacant.

4.8.9 There has been considerable concern since that Mr Mahon’s expulsion constituted an
abuse of the power of the House. In October 1984, the Joint Select Committee on
Parliamentary Privilege released its Final Report in which it recommended that ‘the
power of the Houses to expel members be abolished.’  The Committee considered that285

the disqualification provisions under the Constitution Act were sufficient, but also
recognised the inherent dangers of the abuse of the expulsion power by a partisan vote.

This danger can never be eradicated and the fact that the only case in federal history
when the power to expel was exercised is a case when, we think, the power was
demonstrably misused is a compelling argument for its abolition. But the argument
for abolition of the power to expel does not depend simply on the great potential for
abuse and the harm such abuse can occasion. There are other considerations. Firstly,
there are the detailed provisions in the Constitution. In short, we already have
something approaching a statutory code of disqualification. Secondly, it is the
electors in a constituency or in a State who decide on representation. In principle, we
think it wrong that the institution to which the person has been elected should be able
to reverse the decision of his constituents. If expelled he may stand for re-election
but, as we have said, the damage occasioned by his expulsion may render his
prospects of re-election negligible. Thirdly, the Houses still retain the wide powers
to discipline Members. Members guilty of a breach of privilege or other contempt
may be committed, or fined... . These sanctions seem drastic enough. They may also
be suspended or censured by their Houses.286

4.9 New Zealand House of Representatives

4.9.1 The New Zealand House of Representatives acquired the powers of the House of
Commons in 1865, under the Parliamentary Privileges Act 1865.  As such, it has the
power to impose punishment. However, the House’s power to impose fines as a
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punishment for contempt was later questioned on the grounds that it had fallen into
disuse as a power of the House of Commons by the time the Parliamentary Privileges
Act 1865 was enacted and therefore could not be considered to have been transmitted
to the House as a power it could exercise.287

4.9.2 In maintaining order in the House, the Speaker is able to require a Member to withdraw
unparliamentary expressions and, if considered necessary, to apologise for having made
the expressions. If a Member’s conduct warrants it, the Speaker can also order a
Member to withdraw from the Chamber for a period of up to the remainder of the day’s
sitting, and in more serious cases, can “name” the Member, thereby requiring the House
to pass judgment on the Member’s conduct. A Member ordered to withdraw cannot re-
enter the Chamber during the period of suspension, but is not suspended from the
service of the House, and can carry out other duties as a Member, including voting in
divisions. Suspension following “naming” results in a suspension for twenty-four hours
on the first occasion, seven days on the second occasion, and twenty-eight days on
subsequent occasions, and the Member is suspended from service of the House, which
includes voting in divisions and attending committee meetings.  288

4.9.3 There has been no case of expulsion of a Member occurring in New Zealand. Prior to
the passing of the Parliamentary Privileges Act in 1865, there was an attempt to move
an expulsion motion against a Member, but the House refrained from proceeding with
the motion on the ground that it was doubtful whether the House possessed the power
to expel. Following the passing of the Privileges Act the legal situation changed, and it
was generally accepted that the House had the power to expel. Nonetheless, in 1877 the
Speaker denied the power of the House to declare the seat of a Member to be vacant,
claiming that suspension was the ultimate sanction available to the House.289

4.9.4 The Standing Orders Committee considered the issue of expulsion in its 1989 Report
on the Law of Privilege and Related Matters, and in line with the position adopted in the
Australian Parliament, recommended that any power to expel be abolished in New
Zealand.  To date, the New Zealand Parliament retains the right to expel a Member.290
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4.10 House of Commons

4.10.1 Both the House of Commons and the House of Lords have the power to punish
Members and non-Members for disorderly and disrespectful conduct. Where the Lords
maintains its right to both imprison and impose fines for contempts, the Commons now
accepts that it is without the power to commit beyond the end of a Session, and has not
levied fines in the modern period.291

4.10.2 As indicated above, Members have been called to order for offensive words spoken in
the House, and been reprimanded or admonished, censured, suspended, imprisoned and
even expelled. In recent times, Members have been admonished or reprimanded by
resolution to that effect, and not subsequently censured standing in their place.

4.10.3 The Speaker has the authority to suspend a Member for the remainder of the day’s
sitting for “grossly disorderly” conduct.  If the Speaker considers it necessary, she can292

“name” a Member, thereby requiring the House to pass judgment on the conduct of the
Member. The majority of suspensions in the Commons are carried out for disorderly
conduct in debate following “naming” by the Chair. Suspension in this case results in
suspension for five sitting days on the first occasion, twenty sitting days on the second
occasion, and as determined by the House for any subsequent occasions.  If the293

Member refuses to withdraw, and resists removal by the Serjeant at Arms, suspension
for the remainder of the Session ensues.

4.10.4 The House of Commons clearly not only has the power to expel members, but can also
expel members for punitive purposes.

4.10.5 The procedure for expulsion is that a motion is moved, generally by the Leader of the
House, "that ... be expelled from this House". It is customary, depending on the
circumstances, that a Member be ordered to attend to offer an explanation. However,
if it is apparent that no possible excuse could be given, then the order to attend is not
made. Should the Member be already in prison for the offence, then the prison governor
may be ordered to bring the Member before the House: however in the case of Mr
Baker (see below) no order for attendance was made.

4.10.6 An expelled Member may seek re-election to the House, even within the term of the
same Parliament that elected him, a principle established in 1782 as a result of the case
of John Wilkes, who was expelled three times and once had his return amended in
favour of his defeated opponent.
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4.10.7 There have been three instances this century of expulsion:

C Horatio Bottomley (Independent, South Hackney), was expelled in August 1922, after
being convicted of fraudulent conversion of property and sentenced to seven years'
imprisonment.

C Garry Allighan (Labour, Gravesend) was expelled on 30 October 1947, for lying to a
committee and for gross contempt of the House after publication of an article in the
World's Press News accusing Members of insobriety and of taking fees or bribes for the
supply of information.

C Peter Baker (Conservative, South Norfolk) was expelled on 16 December 1954, after
being sentenced to seven years' imprisonment for forgery. In this instance, the motion
for expulsion need not have been moved: under the provisions then still in force of the
Forfeiture Act 1870, he would have been automatically disqualified. These provisions
were amended by the Criminal Law Act 1967.294

4.11 United States Congress

4.11.1 Section 5 of Article 1 of the United States Constitution provides, among other things,
that:

Each House may determine the rules of its proceedings, punish its members for
disorderly behavior, and with the concurrence of two thirds, expel a member.

4.11.2 The power to discipline has been used sparingly by the Congress. Only fifteen Senators
(including one later rescinded) and four Members of the House have been expelled.295

Even the power to censure has been limited (9 Senators, 22 Representatives and one
territorial delegate), although lesser punishments have been meted out. Typically,
censure proceedings in the Senate are carried out with a degree of moderation, while in
the House offenders are treated more harshly. In the House offending Members are
often denied the privilege of defending themselves, and in most cases a censured
Member is treated like a felon.  Grounds for censure have included assault on a fellow296

Member, insult to the Speaker, treasonable utterances, as well as other offenses.
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4.11.3 The Congress’s power to punish its Members was upheld by the Supreme Court in its
1880-81 term, when several Members of the House were involved in a financial scandal.

In its judgment in the case, Kilbourn v. Thompson,  the Court went beyond its ruling297

in relation to the private citizens involved, stating that:

The Constitution expressly empowers each House to punish its own members for
disorderly behaviour. We see no reason to doubt that this punishment may in a proper
case be imprisonment.

Each House is by the Constitution made the judge of the election and qualifications
of its members.

4.11.4 In a later case, In re Chapman,  decided in 1897, the Court defined the circumstances298

in which either chamber might expel one of its members:

The right to expel extends to all cases where the offense is such as in the judgment
of the Senate [the member’s conduct] is inconsistent with the trust and duty of a
member.”299

4.11.5 The Supreme Court in 1969 acknowledged that a chamber could expel a member for
misconduct.300

4.11.6 The requirement for a two-thirds majority for expulsions was successfully inserted by
James Madison at the Constitutional Convention of 1787, on the grounds that the right
of expulsion was “too important to be exercised by a bare majority of a quorum, and in
emergencies [one] faction might be dangerously abused”.

4.11.7 Until 1980, all expulsions in the US Congress had been on the grounds of conspiracy
against a foreign country (the 1797 case in the Senate) and support of a rebellion (the
Civil War cases of fourteen Senators and three Representatives). The 1980 expulsion



STANDING COMMITTEE ON PARLIAMENTARY PRIVILEGE AND ETHICS
INQUIRY INTO THE CONDUCT OF THE HONOURABLE FRANCA ARENA

69

   The information in this section has been drawn largely from Congressional Quarterly’s Guide to Congress,301

Congressional Quarterly Inc., 4th edition, Washington DC: 1991, pp.759-783.

   Mason’s Manual of Legislative Procedure, The American Society of Legislative Clerks & Secretaries, St.302

Paul, Minn:1989, p. 394.

   ibid., p. 390.303

   ibid., pp. 393-394.304

of a Representative was the first successful expulsion on the ground of corruption,
although there have been other, unsuccessful, attempts to remove Members for
corruption.301

4.11.8 The issue of expulsion is not justiciable in America. The House is the final arbiter of the
expulsion of one of its Members, and it is not open to the courts to control, direct,
supervise or forbid the exercise by either House of the power to expel a Member.302

4.12 United States - State Legislatures

4.12.1 Whatever is spoken in the House is subject to the censure of the House. Offences of this
kind have been punished by calling the Member to the Bar to make submission,
committing them to prison and even expelling them. The House also has the power to
compel a Member to attend, and it is within the rights of the House to compel
attendance by arresting the Member. The House also has the power to suspend a
Member from the service of the House for a given period, to censure a Member and to
impose a pecuniary penalty if the House so determines.303

4.12.2 Most state constitutions provide that each House, with the concurrence of two-thirds
of all the Members elected, may expel a Member. In a proceeding to expel a Member,
the House has the power to adopt any procedure, and to change it without notice, and
there is no constitutional provision giving persons who have been expelled the right to
have a trial and opportunity to be heard in the House. As the issue of expulsion is not
justiciable in the courts, the only safeguard against an unjust and causeless expulsion is
the oath of each individual Member, and the Member’s duty under it to act
conscientiously for the general good.304

4.13 Parliament of Canada 

4.13.1 Section 4 of the Parliament of Canada Act provides:

The Senate and the House of Commons, respectively, and the members thereof hold,
enjoy and exercise:

(a) such and the like privileges, immunities and powers as, at the time of the
passing of the Constitution Act, 1867, were held, enjoyed and exercised by
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the Commons House of Parliament of the United Kingdom and by the
members thereof, in so far as is consistent with that Act; and

(b) such privileges, immunities and powers as are defined by Act of the
Parliament of Canada, not exceeding those, at the time of the passing of the
Act, held, enjoyed and exercised by the Commons House of Parliament of
the United Kingdom and by members thereof.305

4.12.2 As such, both the House of Commons and the Senate in Canada have the power to
discipline Members for punitive purposes. The mildest form of punishment is a simple
declaration that an act is a breach of privilege. Such a declaration is usually delivered to
the offending Member (or non-Member) at the Bar of the House. Censure of the
Member is frequently attached to any conclusion that the privilege of the House has
been offended. Occasionally the Member is given the opportunity to purge the contempt
and promise better conduct in the future.306

4.12.3 For more serious contempts the House takes further action. Imprisonment has been used
on only one occasion, in 1913, when a witness before a Committee, having refused to
answer questions before the Public Accounts Committee and been reported to the
House, persisted in his refusal when summoned before the Bar of the House. He was
committed to prison until prorogation or until the House decided otherwise.  Apart307

from committing a member to prison, the House of Commons may suspend or expel a
member. Further, the power to expel is not confined to offences committed by a
Member as a Member, or during a session of Parliament, but extends to all cases where
the offence is such as, in the judgment of the House, renders the Member unfit for
parliamentary duties.

4.12.4 Since Confederation in 1867, there have been three expulsions from the House of
Commons. Louis Riel was expelled twice as being a fugitive from justice, and an outlaw,
in 1874 and 1875, and Fred Rose was expelled for having been sentenced to six years
imprisonment in 1946, for conspiracy to give unauthorized information to the USSR.308



Chapter Five

FINDINGS ON CONDUCT

5.1.1 Following extensive review of the material and evidence before it, and long
deliberations, the Committee has reached the conclusions set out below.

5.1.2 The Committee has concluded that Mrs Arena in her speech on 17 September 1997
made allegations which involved the following imputations:

(a) on or shortly after Thursday 21 March 1996 the Premier, Mr Carr, and the Leader
of the Opposition, Mr Collins, met together;

(b) late on Sunday 24 March 1996 Mr Carr, "the General Secretary of the ALP", Mr
Della Bosca, and "ALP President", Mr Sheahan, and "other important figures in
the ALP" met together;

(c) each of the participants of the above alleged meetings (ie between Mr Carr and Mr
Collins; and between Mr Carr, Mr Della Bosca, Mr Sheahan and "other important
figures in the ALP") shared the purpose that in his conduct of the Paedophile
segment of the Royal Commission into the New South Wales Police Service,
Justice Wood would ensure that prominent persons in high political, judicial and
social positions in the community would be protected from being identified and
named as a result of the Royal Commission's investigations and hearings;

(d) shortly after these alleged meetings, Mr Carr and Justice Wood met and agreed
that Justice Wood would influence the conduct of investigations and hearings of
the Royal Commission so as to ensure that "people in high places" (ie prominent
persons in high political, judicial and social positions in the community, and thus
"untouchables") who were accused by alleged victims of being paedophiles, would
not be named;

(e) this suppression of their identities constituted a "massive cover-up" on Justice
Wood's part, as was intended by all of the participants of each of the three alleged
meetings;

(f) the purpose of the meetings and the intention of the participants of those meetings,
other than Justice Wood, was to prevent electoral damage arising from disclosure
of the identity of prominent persons in the community who were allegedly engaged
in paedophile activities.
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(g) the purpose of each of the persons participating in the three alleged meetings was
that Justice Wood, contrary to the duties of his public office as Royal
Commissioner, would corruptly favour and protect alleged paedophiles from
investigation, detection and identification, merely because they occupied high
political, judicial or social positions in the community.

5.1.3 The Committee finds that these imputations involved, in substance, the allegation of an
illegal conspiracy, notwithstanding that Mrs Arena did not expressly describe such
alleged conduct as either "illegal" or as involving a "conspiracy".

5.1.4 The Committee finds that Mrs Arena's allegations as to the above conduct:

(a) were untrue;

(b) were made without any reasonable foundation upon facts known to her or
reasonably capable of being checked by her;

(c) were extremely hurtful and damaging to the reputations of each of the persons
referred to as participants in the three alleged meetings.

5.1.5 The Committee has concluded that in Mrs Arena's allegations as to an "agreement"
between Mr Carr and Justice Wood:

(a) the force and effect of her allegations was not removed by the fact that her
conclusion as to the existence of the particular agreement was one which she
stated she was "bold enough to presume", as distinct from one which she knew to
exist;

(b) the date of the meeting was indicated as being within a close timeframe of the two
alleged preceding meetings (between Mr Carr and Mr Collins; and between Mr
Carr, Mr Della Bosca, Mr Sheahan and "other important figures in the ALP"),
which both occurred in March 1996 or very shortly thereafter;

(c) the subject "agreement" was not intended by her to be understood as meaning an
agreement reached some seven months later in October 1996, whereby Justice
Wood agreed to accept the amended Terms of Reference for the Paedophile
segment of the Royal Commission into the Police Service as proposed or required
by Mr Carr.

5.1.6 The Committee finds that the conduct of Mrs Arena, in making the relevant allegations
in her speech on 17 September 1997, was conduct which fell below the standard the
House is entitled to expect of a Member, and brought the House into disrepute.
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5.1.7 Mrs Arena, in her submission dated 6 May 1998, urges that the Committee make a
decision which upholds "the freedom of speech which our Parliaments both enjoy and
depend upon".  She submits that the Committee should "disregard transitory political309

expediency",  "decide what is in the long term best interests of this State and310

country",  and refrain from "causing real harm to the parliamentary institutions of our311

country".312

5.1.8 The Committee's finding that Mrs Arena's conduct fell below the standard the House is
entitled to expect of a Member, and brought the House into disrepute, reflects its
conclusion that Mrs Arena, by making serious allegations, imputing criminal misconduct
against persons both inside and outside Parliament, without any reasonable foundation
upon facts known to her or reasonably capable of being checked by her, abused her
privilege of freedom of speech, damaged the reputations of those persons, and
undermined public confidence in the integrity of the Legislative Council.

5.1.9 The Committee considers that the protection of the House as a parliamentary institution
requires that the abuse of the privilege of freedom of speech in the House which
occurred in the present case, must be curbed by appropriate protective measures.

5.1.10 The fact that the Committee's findings and conclusions are based upon careful
consideration of what is necessary for the protection of the House, and not upon what
Mrs Arena describes as "transitory political expediency"  is confirmed by the fact that313

those findings are unanimous.

5.1.11 Mrs Arena has submitted that her speech of 17 September 1997, when its true meaning
is assessed, should be seen as involving political criticism, and not allegations of criminal
misconduct.  "Cover up", she says, is not a term connoting criminality.   She314 315

emphasised that she did not allege criminal conduct or unlawful conspiracies, and 
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that after her speech, she acted quickly to correct misconceptions that this was what she was
alleging.  For example, Mrs Arena pointed out that in September 1997 she instructed her316

solicitors to write to the Sydney Morning Herald denying any claim of a "high level criminal
conspiracy".

5.1.12 The Committee acknowledges that the expression "cover up" does not necessarily allege
criminal conduct, and depends for its meaning and effect upon the particular context in
which it is being used.  Moreover, it is true that Mrs Arena did not expressly describe
the relevant conduct in respect of which she made allegations in her speech, as being
"criminal" or as constituting a "conspiracy".  However, despite the absence of these
precise terms of "criminal" or "conspiracy" from her speech, the Committee has
concluded that her allegations were, in substance, that a criminal conspiracy had been
reached and given effect to, involving the common purpose that Justice Wood would
perform his public office as Royal Commissioner corruptly, by improperly favouring
high-profile citizens and protecting them from the investigation and disclosure which his
duties and their conduct required, and thus misuse the public funds made available for
the conduct of the Royal Commission.

5.1.13 Mrs Arena, through her Counsel, submitted that:317

(A) even if the Committee decided that in her speech she alleged “an agreement to
ensure that people in high places would not be named”,this does not constitute,
in law, an allegation of a criminal conspiracy;

(B) an agreement between Mr Carr and Justice Wood that Justice Wood would not
investigate allegations that people in high places had engaged in paedophile
conduct, could not constitute a conspiracy, unless Justice Wood, under the Terms
of Reference which he then had, was obliged to conduct such investigations;

(C) Justice Wood regarded his extended Terms of Reference into paedophilia as
requiring him to investigate paedophilia so far as it concerned police corruption
and public officials, but not to investigate paedophilia in high places;

(D) there could, in law, be no allegation of a criminal conspiracy unless what was
imputed was that Justice Wood, by acting in accordance with an “agreement” to
protect high profile paedophiles from being investigated and named by the Royal
Commission, was failing to perform an existing duty, as defined by the extended
Terms of Reference.
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5.1.14 The Committee did not accept these submissions on Mrs Arena’s behalf. The decided
cases establish clearly that it is a criminal offence at common law for a public official,
entrusted with powers and duties for the public benefit, to act from a dishonest,
oppressive or corrupt motive.  A public official has committed misconduct in public318

office and breach of trust in the honest and impartial exercise of his powers and duties,
if he prefers a particular individual or class of individuals for a reason which is
extraneous to the object of his powers.  A criminal conspiracy exists in such319

circumstances where there is an agreement between two persons that one of them will
exercise his powers or duties with unwarranted favouritism to a particular person or
class of persons.320

5.1.15 Justice Wood, in his dual public offices as Supreme Court Judge and Royal
Commissioner, was required to act honestly and without favouritism not merely in
performing the tasks set by the Terms of Reference. He had also to apply his mind
conscientiously to the question whether, in the public interest, changes in the existing
Terms of Reference were desirable or necessary, and so report those conclusions to the
Government and the community, so they could obtain the optimum use of the
investigative resources and public funding with which he had been given. The alleged
agreement that he would not so act, was necessarily a conspiracy whereby he would not
perform his overall public duty.

5.1.16 Indeed, Mrs Arena’s speech does not communicate any concession by her that Justice
Wood had complied with his public duty, or that such duty was relevantly limited by the
Terms of Reference. She stated in the speech that the Royal Commission “has failed the
community by failing to ask for the prosecution of some of the high profile paedophiles
in our community on whom it had evidence and witnesses”;  “the reality is that the321

Commission did not even try”;  and “the community was entitled to see [the Royal322

Commission] try harder”.323

5.1.17 Mrs Arena also submitted that if her speech called into question the conduct of a
member of either House of Parliament, or a Judge of a superior court, "a point of order
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could have been taken, since such matters can only be raised by a substantive motion".324

No such point of order was taken.  Similarly, Mrs Arena points out that Standing Order
80 provides that a Member may not use offensive words against any Member, and that
Standing Order 81 deems disorderly all imputations of improper motives and personal
reflections against Members.  Because a point of order was not taken based upon325

either the absence of a substantive motion or under Standing Orders, Mrs Arena
contends that she had no opportunity at an appropriate early stage to offer an
explanation of her allegations and motives.326

5.1.18 The Committee considers that the fact no point of order was taken at the time does not
excuse Mrs Arena's conduct.  However, the fact that no point of order was taken and
that Mrs Arena thereby lost an early opportunity to explain her position, and if thought
necessary by her, to qualify some of the allegations in her speech, are matters that the
Committee has considered in recommending what sanctions should be enforced in
relation to Mrs Arena's conduct.



   Franca Arena, unpublished supplementary submission concerning conduct, 22 May 1998, p. 2-3327

Chapter Six

6. FINDINGS ON SANCTIONS

6.1 Mrs Arena’s submissions as to sanctions

6.1.1 The Committee, having made findings concerning the conduct of Mrs Arena and advised
Mrs Arena of these findings, invited submissions from Mrs Arena as to what sanction,
if any, was appropriate for the Committee to recommend in the light of its draft findings.

6.1.2 The Committee advised Mrs Arena that it has, in general terms, the power to impose,
or to refrain from imposing, such of a range of possible sanctions as was regarded as
necessary by the House for its protection.  In particular the Committee advised Mrs
Arena that the range of possible responses by the House to the decision that a Member
engaged in conduct which fell below the standard which the House is entitled to expect
of a Member and brought the House into disrepute, includes expulsion; suspension,
either for a stated period of time or until the submission of an apology; apology and
withdrawal of words spoken; censure; reprimand and admonishment; and no sanction
at all.

6.1.3 Mrs Arena, in response to the Committee's invitation, made detailed written submissions
on 9 June 1998 which both challenged the Committee's draft findings concerning her
conduct, and addressed the question of possible sanctions.

6.1.4 Although the Committee had previously, by letter of 4 June 1998, notified Mrs Arena
of its draft findings, the Committee took the view that Mrs Arena should be given full
opportunity to make, through her Counsel, oral submissions as to the correctness of
those draft findings.  The Committee at Mrs Arena's request, permitted her Counsel, Mr
Philip Taylor, to appear as a witness before the Committee on 23 June 1998 in order to
orally expand upon, and where necessary, explain Mrs Arena's written submissions.
Having done so, the Committee has, with minor amendments, substantially confirmed
its draft findings, and expresses its final findings as set out in this Report.

6.1.5 Mrs Arena's main arguments in her written and oral submissions concerning sanctions
can be summarised as follows:

(1) The power to impose sanctions for the conduct of a Member is protective and
defensive only, and not punitive.327
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(2) There has been no substantial interference with the performance of the functions
of Parliament which makes it essential that the House impose sanctions for its
protection.328

(3) There is no material justifying a conclusion Mrs Arena is likely to commit further
contempts of the House.329

(4) The law of parliamentary privilege should not, except in the clearest case, be
invoked so as to impose sanctions which may inhibit or discourage the free
expression of opinion or criticism by Members, especially on matters of political
controversy, no matter how prejudiced, uninformed or exaggerated it may be.330

(5) Sanctions should not be imposed merely to protect the sensitivity of Members.331

(6) Because no point of order was taken during the making of her speech, she lost the
opportunity this would have provided to explain at an early stage the true meaning
of her allegations, thereby removing any ambiguity in her speech and mitigating
any harm which might otherwise have occurred.332

(7) In the speech, she did not allege the occurrence of criminal conduct or the
existence of an illegal conspiracy on the party of any of the named persons, and
since making the speech, has repeatedly disavowed before the Committee, to the
media, and in private conversations, any past, present or future intention to do
so.333

(8) Her motives in making the speech involved a genuine concern on her part for the
welfare of sexually abused children, and a legitimate complaint that the Terms of
Reference of the Royal Commission's paedophile segment were an insufficient
response to the paedophile problem.  334
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(9) The allegations in her speech should be judged by reference to what she actually
said, and not by whether her thoughts, beliefs or concerns at the time were
unreasonable.335

(10) She has been vindicated by the fact that after the NSW Police Service began to
investigate the documents tabled by her in the House, she was advised by a Senior
Police Officer that certain unnamed persons whose conduct was being
investigated, based on the material she had provided, may face prosecution.336

(11) The publicity created by her speech on 17 September 1997, and the subsequent
tabling of documents, has encouraged more alleged victims to make complaints,
and provided the impetus for increased criminal investigations, and ultimately
prosecutions to be undertaken.337

(12) She had already suffered extreme emotional distress and significant financial
expense in the aftermath of her speech.338

6.2 Applicable principles concerning sanctions

6.2.1 The Committee emphasises that in making recommendations as to what sanction, if any,
should be imposed on Mrs Arena for her conduct, the Committee has not regarded itself
as bound to regard any particular type of sanction as appropriate merely because resort
to earlier precedents reveals that such sanction has in the past been imposed by the
House, or any House of Parliament, for other conduct which was described in the same
conclusory terms.

6.2.2 Therefore in determining the appropriate sanction, it is wrong to adopt the mechanical
expedient of simply enquiring what sanctions have, as a matter of recorded
parliamentary history, been imposed by legislatures in Australia and overseas, for
conduct which was found to fall below the relevant standard expected of a Member, and
to bring a House of Parliament into disrepute.  The task of determining whether a
sanction should be imposed, and if so, what that sanction should be, is a completely
discretionary one involving the application of established principles, as stated below, to
the particular conduct, but taking into account any mitigating circumstances.
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6.2.3 The Committee, in making recommendations concerning the appropriate sanctions in
respect of Mrs Arena's conduct in the matter, is conscious of the need to apply the
following principles:

(1) The purpose of the House imposing sanctions upon a Member is not to impose
punishment or retribution, but rather to protect the House and its Members by
preserving the dignity and honour of the House, and maintaining the proper
conduct and exercise of its powers and duties.339

(2) The proper exercise of this protective and self-defensive function requires
determination by the House of what is reasonably necessary to uphold the
authority and standing of the House (so that the community maintains its respect
for the House itself and the institution of Parliament), and to preserve the due and
orderly exercise of its functions (so that Members are able to discharge their
responsibilities with mutual respect, trust and candour).340

(3) The importance of preserving freedom of speech in matters of political
controversy requires that the House exercise as sparingly as possible its
jurisdiction to sanction conduct by Members.  This principle requires that the341

House impose sanctions only in cases of substantial interference with the
performance of the functions of Parliament, and by confining its sanctions to those
which are reasonably necessary for the protection of the House and its Members.

6.3 Recommendations concerning sanctions

6.3.1 The Committee has not accepted Mrs Arena's submission that in her speech on 17
September 1997 she did not allege the occurrence of "criminal" conduct or the existence
of an illegal "conspiracy" on the part of any of the named persons.  The Committee
found that although Mrs Arena did not expressly state that the alleged conduct was
"criminal" or involved a "conspiracy", her allegations amounted in substance, both in law
and in the reasonable view of members of the public, to an illegal conspiracy.  Mrs
Arena described as "untenable" the "theory that I alleged criminal conduct,"  but then342

added:
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I would, however, not dispute that an allegation of criminal conduct, made without
any proper basis, could be conduct falling below the standard which the House is
entitled to expect of a Member.343

6.3.2 The relevant conduct by Mrs Arena consisted of her making, without any reasonable
foundation upon facts known to her or reasonably capable of being checked by her, false
allegations in her speech involving serious imputations of corrupt motives and criminal
conduct against the Premier, the Leader of the Opposition, the Royal Commissioner, and
others outside Parliament.  This involved abuse of the privilege which Mrs Arena
enjoyed, and so damaged the standing and dignity of the House by undermining public
confidence in, and respect for, the House itself as an institution.

6.3.3 The Committee has already found that the conduct of Mrs Arena, in making the relevant
allegations in her speech on 17 September 1997, was conduct which fell below the
standard the House is entitled to expect of a Member, and brought the House into
disrepute.   Mrs Arena was in contempt of the House, and breached the privileges of344

the House, because she did not comply with the general obligation of Members of the
House not to allow their conduct to fall below the standard which the House is entitled
to expect of them.  Moreover, in making the relevant allegations, she damaged the
reputation of the House, because her conduct in making those allegations under the
protection of parliamentary privilege probably had the effect within some parts of the
community of arousing unjustified suspicions as to the honour and good faith of the
deliberations of the House, diminishing the authority of the House, and undermining
public confidence in and respect for the House itself and the institution of Parliament.

6.3.4 If Members, without proper foundation but under cover of privilege, make unfounded
accusations in the House of criminal conduct against persons inside or outside
Parliament, there is a real danger that increasing numbers of citizens will exert pressure
to limit the privilege of Members, because they view Parliament as a "coward's castle"
where Members defame others with excessive immunity.  The best means of limiting this
danger is that the House demonstrate in such circumstances that the exercise by
Members of their privilege of free speech in the House is subject to the House's capacity
to deal effectively with any abuses of that privilege. 

6.3.5 The Committee concluded that determination of the appropriate sanction should not be
influenced by the possibility, upon which Mrs Arena places great reliance , that more345

prosecutions will ensue as a result of the investigations undertaken by the Task Force
set up by Commissioner Ryan to investigate her allegations.  The subsequent
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investigative activities by the Task Force provide no excuse or mitigation for the
seriously damaging allegations which Mrs Arena made in her speech.  If Mrs Arena had
not made the particular allegations containing the offending imputations, but instead had
simply complied with her duty as a citizen to pass on the alleged victims' allegations to
the Police, the same outcome by way of victims' complaints, police investigations and
criminal prosecutions remained achievable.

6.3.6 The Committee considered that no link can be demonstrated between the offending
elements in Mrs Arena's allegations and any increase in reliable complaints or successful
prosecutions.  The ultimate result of the particular investigative activities generated by
Mrs Arena's allegations in her speech and the tabling of documents is difficult to predict
or quantify at this stage, and whether more convictions of the guilty will result from the
documents tabled.

6.3.7 Although the Committee accepts that Mrs Arena has for some time expressed a
significant concern for the welfare of children and for the plight of sexually abused
children, the Committee finds that this factor carries little weight on the issue of
sanctions, particularly as any sanctions are necessarily confined to what is protective of
the House, rather than punitive towards the Member.  The Members of the Committee
share Mrs Arena's concerns that children receive the high level of protection which the
law and the community expect.  The fact that Mrs Arena has taken a high public profile
on this issue confers upon her no dispensation from the obligations of Members to avoid
causing unnecessary damage to the standing and reputation of the House.  Mrs Arena,
like all other Members, is obliged to comply with standards of responsible conduct when
choosing the manner and language in which she gives expression in the House to her
concerns on this issue.

6.3.8 Mrs Arena's fundamental position before the Committee is that the language used by her
in making the relevant allegations in her speech has been misinterpreted, and was not
intended by her to impute, as the Committee has found, the existence of conspiratorial
conduct on the part of the persons named, with the common purpose that Justice Wood,
as Royal Commissioner, would corruptly, and contrary to the duties of his public office,
protect paedophiles who had prominent positions in the community, from investigation,
report and prosecution.  Mrs Arena in her various submissions, oral evidence and
submissions has sought vigorously and repeatedly to deny that these imputations were
intended by her, or reasonably arose from the relevant allegations in her speech.  The
fact that she has done so aids the Committee in determining whether or not the most
extreme sanction of expulsion is necessary.
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6.3.9 The Committee has given careful consideration to Mrs Arena's submission that there is
no material in the speech of 17 September 1997 or in the evidence placed before the
Committee justifying a conclusion that she is likely to commit further contempts of the
House.  Mrs Arena's submission to the Committee dated 30 January 1998 and her346

supplementary submission dated 16 February 1998 both referred to and annexed
documents containing very serious allegations made to her that various persons who
occupy, or have previously occupied, high positions in public life have engaged in sexual
misconduct towards children. Those allegations made to her which the Committee
investigated have been demonstrated to be totally without foundation.  The Committee
having questioned Mrs Arena at length concerning these documents, upon which she
originally appeared to place much emphasis in her submissions to the Committee,
ultimately concluded that it should accept Mrs Arena's submission that these allegations
were made to her as distinct from being ones made or adopted by her , and that in347

any event, they were in no way relied upon by her in making a speech.  Moreover, the348

Committee recognises the validity of Mrs Arena's related submission that her allegations
in her speech should be judged by reference to what she actually said in the speech on
17 September 1997, and not by whether her thoughts, beliefs or concerns at that time,
or later when preparing her submissions or giving evidence to the Committee, were
unreasonable.

6.3.10 The Committee concludes that the most extreme sanction of expulsion would not be
appropriate in the circumstances. There are insufficient grounds at this stage for
inferring that Mrs Arena's conduct in making the particular allegations in her speech
represents a chronic problem, which is likely to recur.  No doubt the House will be more
alert in the future to any breaches by Mrs Arena of the requisite standards of conduct
expected as a Member, and act with appropriate vigour if future breaches occur.
However, it would not be proper for the Committee or the House to report or act
adversely at this stage on the basis of mere predictions as to the future.

6.3.11 Nevertheless the damage done by the relevant allegations in her speech is both
significant and continuing, and requires a sanction which limits any continuing damage
and mitigates that which has occurred.  Accordingly, the Committee considers that the
most appropriate sanction is that which requires Mrs Arena to be first given an
opportunity to withdraw the offending imputations contained in the words spoken and
make an apology to the House. In the event that Mrs Arena fails to withdraw and
apologise within a reasonable time, the Committee considers that the most appropriate
sanction is that Mrs Arena should be suspended from the House, until she has made a
formal apology to the House.  This process is analogous to the available sanctions for
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a breach of Standing Orders 80 and 81 in cases where a Member uses offensive words
against another Member, makes imputations of improper motives or personally reflects
on another Member. In these instances if Members fail to withdraw, and in appropriate
cases, apologise, they may be suspended from the House under the Standing Orders for
disorderly conduct.  However, the powers of the House in imposing sanctions on
Members for their conduct,  in or outside the House, are not restricted to those
contained in the Standing Orders.

6.3.12 Should Mrs Arena fail to withdraw and apologise the need to protect the dignity of the
House and its Members will, in the Committee's view, be best served by requiring Mrs
Arena to be suspended and remain suspended from the House until she has made the
necessary formal apology and withdrawal which should be in terms determined by the
House, as distinct from those chosen by Mrs Arena herself.  As the protective sanction
determined by the House should be aimed at remedying the damage caused by Mrs
Arena's wrongful conduct, the House should not leave the decision as to the terms of
the apology and withdrawal to Mrs Arena's discretion. The danger exists that if Mrs
Arena is to choose the words in which to express any apology and withdrawal, she may
do so in a manner which leaves the community in doubt as to what she is withdrawing,
and whether she is truly apologising.

6.3.13 If Mrs Arena merely makes a token apology and withdrawal in grudging or qualified
terms which suggest that the real problem has been misinterpretation by the House
rather than Mrs Arena's own conduct, the damage done to the House and its reputation
resulting from her allegations will persist.  The House should not by granting complete
latitude to Mrs Arena as to how the apology and withdrawal is framed, permit the
House's sanctions to be deprived of effect because any ambiguity of language or
uncertainty of meaning in her speech of apology and withdrawal leaves the community
in a state of doubt as to whether and to what extent she has in fact done so. For these
reasons, the Committee has prepared for the House what it has concluded is an
appropriate form of apology and withdrawal.

The Committee therefore recommends:

Recommendation No. 1

1. That Mrs Arena be called on to withdraw the allegations made in her speech on
17 September 1997 which involved imputations against:

(a) the Premier, Mr Carr.

(b) the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Collins.

(c) the Royal Commissioner, Mr Justice Wood.
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(d) the General Secretary of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Della Bosca.

(e) the President of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Sheahan,

of a criminal conspiracy to ensure that people in high places would not be named in the
paedophile segment of the Report of the Royal Commission into the Police Service, and
make a written apology to the House.

2. That in the event of the failure of Mrs Arena to withdraw the imputations and
make a written apology to the House within a specified time, Mrs Arena be suspended from
the service of the House until the submission of a formal apology.

Recommendation No 2.

That the House consider a Resolution in the following terms:

1. That this House, having regard to the findings of the Standing Committee on
Parliamentary Privileges and Ethics in relation to its inquiry into the conduct of the
Honourable Franca Arena, MLC:

(a) considers that the conduct of Mrs Arena in making certain allegations in her
speech on 17 September 1997, fell below the standards which the House is
entitled to expect from its Members and brought the House into disrepute.

(b) calls on Mrs Arena to make a written apology to the House within 5 sitting
days after the passing of this Resolution, and withdraw in writing the
imputations against:

(i) the Premier, Mr Carr.

(ii) the Leader of the Opposition, Mr Collins.

(iii) the Royal Commissioner, Mr Justice Wood.

(iv) the General Secretary of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Della Bosca.

(v) the President of the Australian Labor Party, Mr Sheahan,

of a criminal conspiracy to ensure that people in high places would not be named in the
paedophile segment of the Report of the Royal Commission into the Police Service.
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2. That, in the event of Mrs Arena not submitting an apology and withdrawing the
imputations by the time required in paragraph 1 (b), Mrs Arena is suspended from the
service of the House until the submission of a formal apology and withdrawal of the
imputations referred to in paragraph 1(b) (i) to (v).

3. That the apology be in the following terms: 

I hereby withdraw the allegations made in my speech to the House on
17 September 1997, which involved imputations against Mr Carr, Mr
Collins, Mr Justice Wood, Mr Della Bosca and Mr Sheahan, of a
criminal conspiracy to ensure that people in high places would not be
named in the paedophile segment of the Report of the Royal
Commission into the Police Service.

I also hereby apologise to the House and to those people for making
those imputations.

4. That the apology and withdrawal be read by Mrs Arena in the House and be also
published in the Minutes of Proceedings.


